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The residents of Mount Alexander Shire are part of an active 
community that values and understands the health and wellbeing 
benefits of participating in sport and other informal physical activities 
such as walking, bike riding, running and games in the park. 

Council is committed to improving the health and wellbeing of all 
residents. Resourcing Recreation is a framework that will help Council 
to make decisions on investing in recreation activities across the shire. 

The aim is for all residents to have access to recreation opportunities 
to improve their physical and mental wellbeing, as well as increase 
social and community connections with recreation services that are 
accessible, flexible and responsive to needs now and into the future.
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Where does Resourcing Recreation sit within Council’s strategies?
Council has a range of strategic plans that guide how services are delivered to residents and 
community members in the shire. They have been developed through targeted consultation  
and research, and cover the breadth of Council’s recreation services including: recreation 
reserves, aquatic facilities, playgrounds, tracks and trails, and open spaces. Each of these  
plans identify a priority list of actions for further development.

Resourcing Recreation was developed in consultation with representatives from activity groups 
across the shire. This included speaking to management committees, sports clubs, and those 
involved with alternative recreation and unstructured activities such as walking, cycling and yoga. 
A detailed assessment of existing facilities and current participation figures was also carried out, 
enabling additions and updates to the priority list of actions. 

All of these actions are important; however Council does not have the resources to undertake  
all of them immediately. Therefore decisions need to be made about what the priorities are 
across all of the plans. Resourcing Recreation will provide a decision making tool so that we  
can plan and budget for the actions with the highest priority, while also developing a list of  
future priorities that can be adjusted if needed in response to new trends or emerging needs.

COUNCIL’S  
RECREATION STRATEGIES
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In order to make decisions on prioritising the use of limited 
resources to deliver a range of recreation facilities and services 

within the shire, Investment Principles were identified to provide  
a clear and transparent framework.

These Investment Principles will be applied when considerations 
are made about managing, maintaining and developing facilities, 

seeking funding and advocating for external partnerships, and 
working with communities to build capacity. 

Principles in the key focus areas of Community, Governance and 
Facility were endorsed by Councillors and weightings agreed 

for each principle. These reflect the priorities of Council and the 
weightings will be reviewed at each new term of Council. 

INVESTMENT 
PRINCIPLES

COMMUNITY

GOVERNANCE FACILITY

» Increased participation 
» Multi-purpose and  
     shared use 
» Social connection

» Financially responsible 
» Strategic justification 
» Partnerships

» Accessible and inclusive 
» Adaptable and varied 
» Environmentally  
    sensitive and  
    sustainable
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COMMUNITY

GOVERNANCE

FACILITY

PARTICIPATION

FINANCIALLY  
RESPONSIBLE

ADAPTABLE
& VARIED

MULTI-USE  
& SHARED USE

STRATEGIC  
JUSTIFICATION

ACCESSIBLE 
& INCLUSIVE

SOCIAL 
CONNECTION

PARTNERSHIPS

ENVIRONMENTALLY
SENSITIVE & 

SUSTAINABLE

Council will support  
the development of facilities  

and services that increase 
participation and involvement 
of shire residents in sport and 

recreation activities. Development 
will also be considered to help 
stabilise residents’ involvement  

in physical activity, or arrest  
a decline in participation. 

Financial viability and value  
for money from sport and 

recreation facility provision  
will be considered in all aspects 
of planning, development and 
management. Financiai and  
in-kind contributions from 

Committees of Management  
and user groups towards 

operational and capital costs  
of facilities will be encouraged. 

Council will support the 
development of sporting 

and recreation facilities that 
promote access to a variety of 

different sporting and recreation 
opportunities. Recreation facilities 
and services will be designed and 

managed to meet current user 
requirements and adapt to meet 
changing needs and aspirations. 

Council will advocate strongly  
for and optimise the provision  

of sport and recreation facilities 
that are multi-use and can  

support shared use. 

Strategic support from State, 
regional and local plans will be  
an important consideration by 
Council when supporting the 
development of facilities and 

services to meet demonstrated 
community needs and gaps. 

Sport and recreation facilities  
will be welcoming and  

encourage participation  
and enjoyment by people  

of all ages, genders, abilities,  
and cultural backgrounds. 

Council will support recreation 
facilities and services that  
promote social connection  
and stronger communities. 

Council will adopt a collaborative 
approach with the community, 

schools, all levels of government, 
peak sporting organisations  

and the private sector for 
the planning, provision and 
management of sport and 

recreation facilities. 

Sport and recreation facilities  
will be sited, designed 

and managed to enhance 
environmental values and 

sustainability outcomes, and 
embrace Environmentally 
Sustainable Development  
(ESD) principles, where 

appropriate and practical. 

WEIGHTING: 20%

WEIGHTING: 15%

WEIGHTING: 12%

WEIGHTING: 15%

WEIGHTING: 12%

WEIGHTING: 8%

WEIGHTING: 5%

WEIGHTING: 8%

WEIGHTING: 5%
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INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES cont...
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The agreed principles and weightings will be applied to actions identified in current recreation 
plans and strategies as well as to future requests and aspirations from clubs, committees and 
community members. The outcome will determine priorities when considering decisions about 
managing, maintaining and developing facilities, seeking funding and advocating for external 
partnerships, and working with communities to build capacity. 

Partnerships
Council recognises the valuable input from many organisations and individuals in our community, 
who have worked with us to develop this framework. We will grow these partnerships to help 
deliver accessible, flexible and modern infrastructure that services the needs of the community. 

External Funding
Council has partnered with Sport Recreation Victoria (SRV) on this framework and many other 
recreation projects over the past 10 years. Council will continue to work with State and Federal 
Government departments to secure funding for future projects.

Planning
Resourcing Recreation will provide the tool to prioritise our recreation and sport planning.  
It will help us to develop intelligent, robust plans for upgrading existing infrastructure and 
developing new facilities.

HOW WILL WE IMPLEMENT
RESOURCING RECREATION?
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Type of facilities
» 21 recreation reserves managed by Council
» 2 recreation reserves owned by the Department  
    of Environment, Water, Land and Planning (DELWP)
» 58 tennis courts (25 in disrepair)
» 5 shared AFL / cricket ovals 
» 10 cricket only ovals — some with little or no use  
    by sport or community groups
» 5 AFL ovals
» 14 netball courts
» 1 soccer pitch making soccer the only under- 
    supplied sport

Sports & clubs
» AFL football
» Croquet
» Soccer
» Netball
» Archery
» Equestrian
» Lawn Bowls
» Table Tennis
» Tennis
» Motor Cross
» Sailing

» Golf
» Billiards
» Skateboarding
» Cricket
» Indoor Bowls
» Shooting    
    sports
» Basketball
» Petanque
» Cycling
» Badminton

FACTS & STATS
HIGHLIGHTS 1

7

Recreation facilities 
There are 120 sport and recreation facilities within Mount Alexander Shire catering for a diverse range of 
clubs and activities. The figure below shows the spread of facilities across the shire, township population  
and local club participants. Tracks, trails, playgrounds and swimming pools are not included. 
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What were the key findings about 
participation in sport and recreation?
Council developed this framework with valuable input  
from community members, sports clubs and recreation 
reserve committees of management. We consulted with  
a wide range of sports clubs from traditional sports such as 
netball, football, tennis and cricket, to other activities such 
as table tennis, cycling, petanque and orienteering.  
We also surveyed the community to capture information 
from people who may not be connected with organised 
sport and recreation clubs. The information and experience 
shared by these groups and individuals has helped to shape 
this framework and will assist us to determine where to best 
focus resources to ensure the recreation services reach as 
many people as possible, now and in the future.

KEY STATS
Population (2016 ABS)
» 18,762 in 2016 — expected to increase to approx.  
    21,000 by 2031

» Median age is 47 (State average 37)

» Most 65+ in the State. Highest growth forecast  
    for this cohort

» Negative growth expected for 0-24 age group

» Key growth regions: McKenzie Hill (Greater  
    Castlemaine) and Harcourt

» SEIFA index of disadvantage: 995 — comparable  
    to regional Victoria  

Participation
» Majority of people participating in organised sport  
    across the state are aged 5–39 (AusPlay 2016)

Given the age profile and projected growth for Mount 
Alexander Shire, these figures highlight that it will be 
important for the shire to:

» develop facilities for organised sport

» develop infrastructure that supports informal  
    physical activities such as walking and cycling

» provide flexible, accessible and welcoming  
    open spaces

FACTS & STATS
HIGHLIGHTS 2
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PARTICIPATION

9

Over the past three years there has been an overall club participation trend of either stable 
membership or some decline — as highlighted by the club participation survey undertaken in 
2017 by Council. An exception is soccer which has experienced sustained growth over the last 
three years. 

The VicHealth Indicators Survey (2015) found that Mount Alexander Shire has high levels of 
participation by residents in non-organised physical activity, but lower levels of physical activity 
organised by fitness, leisure or indoor sports centres. In 2017 Council undertook a community 
survey which was completed by 155 residents. The results highlighted below found that the most 
popular forms of physical activity were walking, cycling, swimming and running.

Cycling, running and walking
» Castlemaine Cycling club at the Wesley Hill Velodrome (48 members — incl. 11 female)

» Rocky Riders Mountain Bike Club (105 members — incl. 28 female)

» Regional activities such as the Harcourt Mountain Bike Park, La Larr Ba Gauwa Park

» Park Run at the Castlemaine Botanic Gardens (average 50-110 participants weekly — 60% female)

» Events and activities such as Run the Maine, Race the Train and Walk to School 

» Township tracks and trails walking groups

78%

WALKING

49%

CYCLING
46%

FITNESS 
CLASSES / GYM

40%

SWIMMING
33%

RUNNING

26%

YOGA / 
PILATES

PARTICIPATION

58%

BOTANICAL
GARDENS

53%

TRACKS 
OR TRAILS

35%

SWIMMING
POOLS

28%

PRIVATE
FACILITIES

25%

RECREATION
RESERVES

FACILITIES

What activities are people doing? *

Where are people exercising? *

Resourcing Recreation April 2019

* Mount Alexander Community Recreation Survey (2017)
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PARTICIPATION cont...
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6692
AFL FOOTBALL

1 129
TABLE TENNIS

3

6
561
NETBALL

AFL FOOTBALL
PARTICIPATION: 692 55 female

STATUS: stable 2015 - 2017

CLUBS: 6 FACILITIES: 6 

BASKETBALL
PARTICIPATION: 335 185 female

ASSOCIATIONS: 1 COURTS: 5 

CROQUET
PARTICIPATION: 49 26 female

FACILITIES: 2 CLUBS: 2 

TABLE TENNIS
PARTICIPATION: 129 39 female

CLUBS: 1 FACILITIES: 1 

GOLF
PARTICIPATION: 278 94 female

COURSES: 3 FACILITIES: 3

TENNIS
PARTICIPATION: 428 201 female

STATUS: Largest membership at 
Castlemaine lawn tennis (277) 

followed by Harcourt (70) 
and Maldon (26). 

CLUBS: 7  COURTS: 58 

EQUESTRIAN
PARTICIPATION: 71 48 female

STATUS: club numbers in decline

CLUBS: 5 FACILITIES: 5 

CRICKET
PARTICIPATION: 445 33 female

STATUS: participation in club cricket 
is declining. 5 of the facilities are 
shared with AFL football, while 

the other 10 are cricket only. 

CLUBS: 8 FACILITIES: 15 

BOWLS
PARTICIPATION: 284 96 female

FACILITIES: 5 CLUBS: 5 

SOCCER
PARTICIPATION: 355 81 female

STATUS: Largest single club 
membership in the Shire.

CLUBS: 1  FACILITIES: 1 

8

445
CRICKET

7
428
TENNIS

1 335
BASKETBALL

1

SOCCER
335

284
BOWLS

5

NETBALL
PARTICIPATION: 561 10 male

STATUS: Netball remains sport of 
choice for females in Mt. Alexander 

with 38% of all female sports 
participants playing netball.

571
EQUESTRIAN

2
49

CROQUET

278
GOLF

CLUBS: 5 (1 association)  

COURTS: 14 (12 outdoor & 2 indoor)

Community Recreation Survey snapshot.
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Community Recreation Survey snapshot.
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ACHIEVEMENTS
Council and other facility managers have invested in a range of infrastructure 
improvements in recent years to provide fit for purpose facilities including: 

In addition Council and other facility managers, 
including community volunteer Committees  
of Management contribute significant time and 
resources to undertake regular maintenance of 
existing facilities.

There is still more to do…

13

x 4
New pavilions or significant 
pavilion upgrades

x 2
Master plan development

x 2
Cricket practice nets

x 3
New play spaces

23km
Tracks and trails

x 9
New/ upgraded courts

x 4
Reserve ground floodlights
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CHALLENGES
Key areas that remain a challenge for Council to address include:

Resourcing Recreation will provide a critical tool  
to assist Council to prioritise investment to optimise 
these assets, ensuring that they continue to service 
the needs of the shire community.

14

Providing amenities  
for female participants

Upgrading facilities to  
meet industry standards

Maintaining aging  
infrastructure 

Modernising infrastructure  
to address access needs

Meeting community 
expectations for high quality 
recreation facilities in a rate 
capping environment

Upgrading floodlight 
facilities to recommended 
standards 

Providing infrastructure 
that is environmentally 
sustainable 

Resourcing Recreation April 2019



Civic Centre, Cnr Lyttleton & Lloyd Sts
PO Box 185 Castlemaine VIC 3450
Office hours: 8.30am-5.00pm weekdays

t   (03) 5471 1700
e   info@mountalexander.vic.gov.au
w  www.mountalexander.vic.gov.au
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Mount Alexander: innovative, creative, connected

Mayor’s Introduction

Councillors are pleased to release the Budget 2019/2020 to the community. It outlines the services,

works and capital investments needed to deliver on our commitments and achieve our vision of an

innovative, creative and connected shire in the Council Plan 2017-2021.

The proposed $43.63 million budget outlines the resources needed to deliver more than 100 services to 

the community under the adopted pillars of Our People, Our Place and Our Economy. In addition to 

delivering core programs and services, our focus is on continuing to improve the physical assets in 

towns across the shire.

The budget includes an allocation of $16.72 million for capital works, including carry-forward projects, to 

improve infrastructure such as our roads, bridges, drains, footpath and trail networks. It includes strong 

investment in our community facilities as places where people can socialise and connect, be creative or 

get some exercise to improve their health and wellbeing. The upgrades follow a considerable amount of 

work to audit our assets over the past few years to help us prioritise investment based on their condition 

and community needs. 

Some highlights of the capital works program include:

•         Road rehabilitation works on Bendigo-Sutton Grange Road, Sutton Grange Road and North 

Harcourt Road, and an upgrade to Specimen Gully Road in Barkers Creek

•         Replacement of bridges in Froomes Road, Castlemaine and Eagles Road in Harcourt

•         Construction and design of female friendly change-rooms at Harcourt Recreation Reserve 

and the Bill Woodfull Reserve in Maldon, respectively

•         Further prepatory works, including approvals and land access issues, to prepare for future 

construction of flood levees and related waterway landscaping in Castlemaine and Campbells 

Creek, with assistance from the Victorian Government

•         Works to finalise the walking and cycle track, and complete the missing links, on the 

Campbells Creek Trail, dependant on Federal Government funding

•         Construction of footpaths in William Street Castlemaine, Ray Street in Castlemaine, as part 

of our plan to link the McKenzie Hill growth area, as well as a pedestrian crossing in Forest 

Street near Camp Reserve

•         Construction of a play space at Stanley Park North in Harcourt and replacement of the 

playground at Morissey Reserve near the Westend Hall in Castlemaine

•         Continuing works to improve the streetscapes in our towns including Harcourt, Taradale, 

Elphinstone, Chewton, Campbells Creek, Guildford, Newstead, Maldon and Castlemaine.

The proposed budget also includes a number of new and continuing initiatives to encourage a strong, 

resilient and connected community including:

•         Continued support for community lunches in Maldon, Newstead and Castlemaine

•         Implementation of our Early Years Plan and the State Government funded Supported 

Playgroups Program

•         Delivery of valued aged and disability services, despite significant changes in the sector due 

to the Commonwealth Government’s Aged Care Reform program

•         A new part-time position for an Equity and Inclusion Officer to protect human rights, and 

meet legislative requirements under the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 

Act

•         A Walking and Cycling Strategy review to guide future investment and decision-making

•         Funding to manage and maintain trees across the shire, to minimise risk and preserve the 

significant trees at Castlemaine Botanical Gardens

•         A review of groundwater bores at recreation reserves to determine options for water supply

•         A feasibility study investigating the capacity of the Wesley Hill Stadium to meet indoor sports 

needs for residents.

2019/2020 Proposed Budget 2 Mount Alexander Shire Council
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Mayor’s Introduction continued

As your Councillors, it is our role to listen to the community, understand your priorities and be financially 

responsible. It’s a tough job to meet the needs of everyone but will we continue to do our best to 

identify sustainable cost savings and deliver high quality services, while continuing to advocate for a fair 

share of State and Federal funding.

The 2019/2019 budget proposes an increase to average rate income of 2.5%, in line with the State 

Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) which has capped rate increases at 2.5% in 2019/2020. 

Council has not applied to the Essential Services Commission for a variation in the four year history of 

rate capping, and has not budgeted any new borrowings for 2019/2020.

While Council has proposed an increase to average rate income of 2.5%, the actual increase for each 

ratepayer will vary due to the amount of their individual property valuation. The Victorian Government 

now requires all properties to be revalued annually, which will result in a redistribution of rates payable 

based on the change to a property’s value.

Kerbside bin collection charges will increase by an average of 3% per property. It has been difficult to 

minimise the costs for users of the service while tackling a general rise in the costs of waste 

management in the face of global recycling challenges, the State Government landfill levy and costs 

associated with rehabilitating cells in the landfill.

Council endorses this budget as financially responsible. It was developed through a rigorous process of 

consultation and review by staff and Councillors. Decisions were informed by feedback from ratepayers 

and residents and our obligations to meet legislative requirements under the pressures of the Fair Go 

Rates System.

I encourage you to read this document to understand the significant investment in capital works and the 

programs and services we will deliver in the financial year ahead. You can also have a say on the 

priorities in the budget by making a submission.

Cr Bronwen Machin

Mayor

2019/2020 Proposed Budget 3 Mount Alexander Shire Council
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Disclaimer
 

 
The model budget, including financial statements, has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local 

Government Act 1989  and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 . While every effort has 

been made to ensure that the information contained in this document has been accurate and complies with relevant 
Victorian legislation, each Council remains responsible to ensure that the budget they prepare is compliant with all 
statutory requirements. 

The information contained in this document is for general guidance only. It is not professional advice and should not be 
used, relied upon or treated as a substitute for specific professional advice. Given the changing nature of laws, rules 
and regulations, and the inherent hazards of electronic communication, there may be delays, omissions or inaccuracies 
in information contained in this document.
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Mount Alexander: innovative, creative, connected

1. Link to the Council Plan

Service level planning

This section describes how the Annual Budget links to the achievement of the Council Plan within an overall

planning and reporting framework. This framework guides the Council in identifying community needs and

aspirations over the long term, medium term (Council Plan) and short term (Annual Budget) and then holding

itself accountable (Annual Report).

The Strategic Resource Plan, part of and prepared in conjunction with the Council Plan, is a rolling four-year plan

that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to achieve the strategic objectives

described in the Council Plan. The Annual Budget is framed within the Strategic Resource Plan, considering the

services and initiatives which contribute to achieving the strategic objectives specified in the Council Plan. The

diagram below depicts the planning and accountability framework that applies to local government in Victoria.

In addition to the above, Council has a long term plan which articulates a community vision, mission and values.

The timing of each component of the planning framework is critical to the successful achievement of planned 

outcomes.

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

1.1  Legislative Planning and accountability framework

1.1.2  Key planning considerations

Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, local roads, 

food safety and statutory planning—most  council services are not legally mandated, including some services 

closely  associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and sporting facilities.  Further, over time, the 

needs and expectations of communities can change. Therefore councils need to have robust  processes for 

service planning and review to ensure all services continue to provide value for money and are in line with 

community expectations. In doing so, councils should engage with communities to determine how to prioritise 

resources and balance service provision against other responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital 

works.  

2019/2020 Proposed Budget 5 Mount Alexander Shire Council



Mount Alexander: innovative, creative, connected

- be progressive and innovative

- advocate for our shire and collaborate with others for the benefit of our region.

- socially connected, safe and inclusive communities

- local services that support the needs of our community

- improved health and wellbeing

- a welcoming place for all

- well managed assets for now and into the future

- a clean and green community

- well planned-for growth

- a creative and innovative economy

- great opportunities for education and technology

- an innovative and sustainable organisation

1.3  Pillars

Council delivers activities and initiatives under major service categories. Each contributes to the achievement of

one of the pillars as set out in the four year Council Plan 2017-2021. The three pillars described in the Council

Plan are:

Our people

Our place

Our economy

Our vision 

1.2  Our purpose

Mount Alexander:

Innovative. Creative. Connected.

Mount Alexander Shire Council will:

Our principles

- insist on integrity, equity and fairness in delivering services and facilities

- listen to our communities, respect their views and respond openly and responsibly

2019/2020 Proposed Budget 6 Mount Alexander Shire Council



Mount Alexander: innovative, creative, connected

2. Services and service performance indicators

Services
2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp              2,402          2,348 

Rev              1,972          2,042 

NET                 430             306 

Exp                 641             800 

Rev                 408             449 

NET                 233             350 

Exp                 351             354 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 351             354 

Exp                 500             470 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 500             470 

Exp                 651             677 

Rev                   41               37 

NET                 610             640 

Aged and Disability 

Services

Assesses and plans services for older people and

people with disabilities to enable them to remain

living independently. This includes home care

services, personal care services, respite services,

delivered meals, home safety and social support

programs for isolated older people.

Community Safety 

and Amenity

Improves safety and amenity in the shire by

supervising school crossings, control of domestic

animals and livestock, regulating parking, issuing

local law permits and infringement notices, and

providing information and advice to the community.

Communication Provides information to the community about our

programs and services through media, social media,

advertising, newsletters and web. Assists and

provides advice to staff on sharing information and

engagement with the community.

Community 

Partnerships

Works with local residents, community organisations

and service providers to build community capacity

and strengthen our engagement with the community.

This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2019/2020 year

and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It also describes

several initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s operations. Council is

required by legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the

Budget and report against them in their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability. The relationship

between these accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below.

2.1  Our People
Population | Health | Wellbeing | Support | Resilience | Partnerships | Social services | Connections

Service area Description of services provided

The tables below provides Council's net operating costs to deliver on-going and one off projects.

Venue 

Coordination and 

Events

Provides hire and management services for public

venues, as well as cleaning and maintenance of

public restrooms.
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2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp                 376             411 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 376             411 

Exp                 256             238 

Rev                 134             129 

NET                 122             109 

Exp                 322             317 

Rev                 143             146 

NET                 179             170 

Executive Exp                 997          1,038 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 997          1,038 

Exp                 516             527 

Rev                   19               19 

NET                 497             508 

Exp                 331             333 

Rev                 203             247 

NET                 128               86 

Exp              1,442          1,541 

Rev                     6                 1 

NET              1,436          1,540 

Records Exp                 313             308 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 313             308 

Exp                 166             159 

Rev                   87               65 

NET                   79               94 

Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Provides consultations, information, referrals, advice

and support for children from birth to school age and

their families.  

Organisational 

Capability

Provides strategic and operational organisation

capability support including human resource and

industrial relations strategies, policies and

procedures.

Stores, retrieves and archives records and ensures

legislative and privacy requirements are met.

Youth 

Development

Works in partnership with young people and the

community, organisations and service providers to

support and promote initiatives, activities and

programs that strengthen young people's connections 

and place within the community.

3)        The creation of a new part time position to enable the organisation to continue to develop a strategic and

operational understanding of its legislative responsibilities under the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and

Responsibilities Act  (2006) ($35,440).

1)        State Government funding will continue to support delivery of the Supported Playgroups Program and

implementation of the Early Years Plan ($93,930 - Council funded $37,471)

2)        Federal and State Governments will continue to part fund the Commonwealth Home Support Program and

Home and Community Care Program to deliver quality and innovative programs in aged and disability services until

30 June 2020.

Service area Description of services provided

4)        We will continue to support the community lunch programs in Maldon and Castlemaine, and will offer support

to the Newstead program for the first time.

Customer Service Assists customers with general enquiries, shares

information, registers community requests for service

and processes payments.

Emergency 

Management

Develops and implements strategies to increase the

emergency management capability of the shire and

community. Undertakes prevention measures to

reduce risk from hazards.

Environmental 

Health

Conducts inspections and maintains registrations for

food and public health businesses, including

registration and approval of temporary food permits,

assessment of septic tank applications and

investigates complaints.

Strategically manages the organisation in keeping

with the requirements of good governance, legislation

and strategic policy.

Library Operations Provides accessible information and resources for

the recreational, cultural, educational and social

development of our community. The service is

provided by Goldfields Library Corporation via the

library located in Castlemaine. 

Maternal and Child 

Health

2.1 continued
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Wellbeing - 

Families and 

Children

Participation

Wellbeing - 

Families and 

Children

Participation

Libraries Participation

Animal 

Management

Health and safety

Food safety Health and safety

Number of successful 

animal management 

prosecutions

[Number of critical non-

compliance notifications and 

major non-compliance 

notifications about a food 

premises followed up / 

Number of critical non-

compliance notifications and 

major non-compliance 

notifications about food 

premises] x100

Critical and major non-

compliance notifications

(Percentage of critical and 

major non-compliance 

notifications that are 

followed up by Council)

2.1 continued

Service Indicator

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Performance Measure Computation

Participation in MCH 

service

(Percentage of children 

enrolled who participate in 

the MCH)

[Number of children who 

attend the MCH service at 

least once (in the year) / 

Number of children enrolled 

in the MCH service] x100

Participation in MCH 

service by Aboriginal 

children

(Percentage of Aboriginal 

children enrolled who 

participate in the MCH 

service)

[Number of Aboriginal 

children who attend the 

MCH service at least once 

(in the year) / Number of 

Aboriginal children enrolled 

in the MCH service] x100

Active library members

(Percentage of the 

municipal population that 

are active library members)

[Number of active library 

members / Municipal 

population] x100

Animal management 

prosecutions

(Number of successful 

animal management 

prosecutions) 
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Services
2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp                 947          1,299 

Rev                 110               68 

NET                 837          1,231 

Exp                 795             775 

Rev                 108             188 

NET                 687             587 

Exp                 205             199 

Rev                   63               32 

NET                 142             167 

Infrastructure Exp                 794             947 

Rev                 168             190 

NET                 626             757 

Exp              2,245          2,278 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET              2,245          2,278 

Exp                 236             255 

Rev                   82             132 

NET                 154             123 

Exp              3,232          3,031 

Rev                 632          1,872 

NET              2,600          1,159 

Exp              3,067          3,019 

Rev              4,535          4,712 

NET (1,468) (1,693)

Undertakes maintenance and renewal of our roads,

bridges, paths and drainage. This includes

maintenance grading, patrol patching, periodic gravel

and bituminous resurfacing, road and intersection

renewals, road markings, signage, drain clearance

and street sweeping.

2.2  Our Place
Buildings | Sport and recreation facilities | Roads | Footpaths | Drainage | Trails | Playgrounds | Gardens | Natural

environment | Waste | Recycling | Heritage

Description of services providedService area

Waste 

Management

Manages the waste management facilities at

Castlemaine and Maldon. Provides kerbside waste,

recycling collection and develops and implements

waste and resource recovery strategies.

Designs, contract manages and supervises our

capital works program. Undertakes safety and

condition inspections of roads, bridges and footpaths,

and maintains the asset management system while

overseeing community infrastructure development.

Parks and Gardens Manages key parks and recreation areas including

Castlemaine Botanical Gardens, Maldon Gardens

and Victory Park, as well as managing street trees,

tree planting and removal, in addition to planning and

strategies.

Recreation 

Facilities

Oversees the management, use and development of

sports grounds and pavilions. Provides advice on

recreational needs, facility use and planning to

provide access to well-maintained sporting and

recreation facilities.

Roads and Paths

Active 

Communities

Provides advice on local recreational needs and

facility use and planning, while running special

projects and events to promote and develop healthy

physical activity in the shire and support sports and

recreation clubs.

Community 

Buildings and 

Property 

Management

Prepares maintenance and management programs

for our buildings, pavilions and other community

assets to maximise value and use. The service also

facilitates management and strategic planning for our

building, land, commercial and community leases and

licences.

Environment and 

Sustainability

Develops environmental policy, coordinates and

implements environmental projects and works with

other services to improve our environmental

performance, including climate change initiatives.
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Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Aquatic Facilities Utilisation

Roads Satisfaction

Waste collection Waste diversion

5)        Further prepatory works, including approvals and land access issues, to prepare for future construction of

flood levees and related waterway landscaping in Castlemaine and Campbells Creek, utilising $417,000 of State

Government funding, as well as stage two drainage works in Saint Street ($796,000)

6)        Finalisation of the Campbells Creek walking and cycling trail ($643,000), subject to Federal Government

funding of $500,000

IndicatorService

2.2 continued

3)        $2.98 million for a number of road rehabilitation and upgrade projects, including Bendigo-Sutton Grange

Road, Specimen Gully Road, Sutton Grange Road and North Harcourt Road. These works are budgeted to be part

funded by the Roads to Recovery Program ($900,000) and the Fixing Country Roads Program ($1.39 million)

4)         $342,000 of works on recreation facilities, including swimming pools

7)        Footpath renewal and construction works ($593,500) across a range of sites including major works at William

Street, Ray Street and Camp Reserve at Forest Street

8)        $430,625 construction of a new play space in Stanley Park North, Harcourt with $250,000 funding being

contributed by the State Government, as well as the replacement of the existing playground in Morrissey Reserve.

11)        $20,000 to trial public place recycling bins

9)          $80,000 for design works for the Harcourt streetscape project

12)        An additional $44,000 for rural roadside weed management

13)        An additional $120,000 for tree management and maintenance for both street trees and the Botanic Gardens

14)        $49,500 for a review of the Walking and Cycling Strategy to better inform future decisions and works.

[Weight of recyclables and 

green organics collected 

from kerbside bins / Weight 

of garbage, recyclables and 

green organics collected 

from kerbside bins] x100

Kerbside collection waste 

diverted from landfill

(percentage of garbage, 

recyclables and green 

organics collected from 

kerbside bins that is 

diverted from landfill)

10)        Local road resealing and gravel road resheeting ($1.53 million)

1)        Replacement of bridges in Froomes Road and Eagles Road ($1.48 million), subject to Federal Government

contributions  of $744,000

2)         Construction of female change rooms at the Harcourt Recreation Reserve ($673,000)

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Performance Measure Computation

Utilisation of aquatic 

facilities

(The number of visits to 

aquatic facilities per head 

of municipal population)

Number of visits to aquatic 

facilities / Municipal 

population

Satisfaction with sealed 

local roads
Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 on how 

Council has performed on 

the condition of sealed local 

roads
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Services
2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp                 176             196 

Rev                   75             100 

NET                 101               96 

Exp                 227             219 

Rev                   16                 7 

NET                 211             212 

Exp                 521             528 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 521             528 

Exp              1,485          1,457 

Rev                 570             588 

NET                 915             868 

Exp                 480             586 

Rev                     5                -   

NET                 475             586 

Exp                 869             998 

Rev                    -                  -   

NET                 869             998 

Exp              1,418          1,417 

Rev                 326             353 

NET              1,092          1,064 

Exp                 320             370 

Rev                   93             125 

NET                 227             245 

Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Building Services Provides building compliance services including

emergency management responsibilities, fire safety

inspections, swimming pool barrier audits and

investigates complaints and illegal works.

Cultural 

Development

Provides advocacy and support to help develop arts,

cultural and creative activities across the shire.

Economic 

Development

Undertakes initiatives to build the local economy

including support for the growth of local businesses

and industry networks along with reducing barriers for

business development. Works towards creating and

maintaining an environment that ensures the shire is

a desirable location for people to visit, work, live and

invest.

Financial Services Manages finances through the preparation and

monitoring of the budget, payment of accounts,

procurement of services, raising and collection of

rates and charges and valuation of properties.

1)        $270,000 for streetscape design and construction works, including design for Maldon and construction across

a number of small towns across our Shire

Governance Coordinates Council meetings, Councillor related

activities and provides support and oversight of

compliance with the Local Government Act.  

Information 

Services

Provides, supports and maintains cost effective

communications and IT systems enabling Council to

deliver services in a productive and efficient way.

Planning Services Manages land use and development in the

municipality in accordance with the Mount Alexander

Planning Scheme. The service provides planning

information and advice, assesses planning permit

applications and undertakes compliance activities.

Develops and implements urban and rural planning

strategy and maintains an effective planning scheme

through regular reviews and planning scheme

amendments, while ensuring appropriate support for

our heritage.

Tourism Services Provides visitor information, marketing and industry 

development for the shire.  Supports economic and 

social benefits of tourism through operation of Visitor 

Information Centres in Castlemaine and Maldon. 

Provides accommodation and tour booking services.

Service area Description of services provided

3)        Upgrade to the stage lighting at the Town Hall ($25,000)

4)       Minor works to renew facilities at the Maldon Visitor Information Centre and the Castlemaine Maternal and

Child Health Centre ($75,000).

2)        $774,800 building works across a range of facilities, including replacing the floor in the Castlemaine library,

numerous works to ensure compliance of public buildings with the Disability and Discrimination Act , and further

Market Building conservation works.

2.3  Our Economy
Business | Economy | Jobs | Education | Creativity | Innovation | Tourism | Culture
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Service Indicator

Statutory Planning Decision making

Governance Satisfaction

Net (Cost)

Revenue

$’000 $’000 $’000

(6,387) 9,521 3,135

(4,610) 11,804 7,194

(4,598) 5,770 1,173

(15,595) 27,096 11,501

(8,800)

(394)

(24,789)

19,510

Rates interest 170

Capital works income 4,488

Unallocated Victorian Grants Commission 3,232

Total funding sources 27,399

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,611

Less

Capital grants (4,459)

Capital contributions - non-monetary (29)

Underlying surplus/(deficit) for the year (1,877)

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Performance Measure Computation

Council planning decisions 

upheld at VCAT

(Percentage of planning 

application decisions 

subject to review by VCAT 

that were not set aside)

2.3 continued

[Number of VCAT decisions 

that did not set aside 

Council’s decision in relation 

to a planning application / 

Number of VCAT Council 

decisions in relation to 

planning applications] x100

Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

Council has performed in 

making decisions in the 

interests of the community

Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

Council has performed in 

making decisions in the 

interests of the community

Rates and charges revenue

Total

Expenses added in:

Depreciation

Net (gain) / loss on disposal of assets

Deficit before funding sources

Our Place

2.4  Reconciliation with budgeted operating result

Our People

Our Economy

Funding sources added in:

Expenditure Revenue
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3. Financial Statements

* Statement of Human Resources

This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources. The budget information for the

year 2019/2020 has been supplemented with projections to 2022/2023 extracted from the Strategic Resource Plan.

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local 

Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 .

* Comprehensive Income Statement

* Balance Sheet

* Statement of Changes in Equity

* Statement of Cash Flows

* Statement of Capital Works

Pending Accounting Standards
The 2019/2020 budget has been prepared based on the accounting standards applicable at the date of preparation.  This means that 

pending accounting standards that will be in effect from the 2019/2020 financial year have not been considered in the development of the 

budget.

Standards that are likely to impact on the 2019/2020 financial statements, not considered in the preparation of the budget include:

• AASB 16 Leases

• AASB  15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers , and 

• AASB 1058 Income of Not for Profit Entities .

While it is not possible to determine the precise impact of these standards at this time, the broad impact on Council is estimated to be as 

follows:

• AASB 16 Leases  – Introduces a single lessee accounting model whereby the Council will be required to recognise a right of use asset and 

associated liability for leases longer than 12 months, except those considered to be of low value.

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  and AASB 1058 Income of Not for Profit Entities  – Change the way that Councils 

recognise income and also address matters such as grant funding, contribution of assets and volunteer services.  A key change is 

replacement for some transactions of the criteria of control as a determinant of the timing of income recognition, with the criteria of satisfying 

performance obligations in an enforceable agreement. These new standards have the potential to impact the timing of how the Council 

recognises income.
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Comprehensive Income Statement
For the four years ending 30 June 2023

2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income

Rates and charges 4.1.1 23,044 23,185 23,927 24,547 25,234 25,939

Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 997 1,148 1,023 1,049 1,075 1,102

User fees 4.1.3 1,022 1,177 1,130 1,164 1,199 1,235

Grants - operating 4.1.4 4,722 4,915 7,191 7,622 7,833 8,050

Grants - capital 4.1.4 2,101 1,775 4,459 4,166 4,707 4,528

Contributions - monetary 4.1.5 70 227 120 122 125 127

Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 - - 29 - - -

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 

infrastructure, plant and equipment (485) (485) (394) (250) (250) (320)

Other income 4.1.6 803 972 838 852 866 881

Total income 32,274 32,914 38,323 39,273 40,789 41,542

Expenses

Employee costs 4.1.7 14,621 13,905 15,162 15,694 16,244 16,813

Materials and services 4.1.8 9,327 10,044 10,143 10,694 10,737 10,975

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.9 8,521 8,681 8,800 8,890 8,887 8,884

Bad and doubtful debts 6 23 18 16 17 17

Borrowing costs 194 194 164 171 279 263

Other expenses 4.1.10 1,569 1,568 1,424 1,452 1,482 1,511

Total expenses 34,238 34,415 35,711 36,917 37,645 38,463

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (1,964) (1,501) 2,612 2,356 3,144 3,079

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to 

surplus or deficit in future periods

(1) (1) (1) 20 20 20

Total comprehensive result (1,965) (1,502) 2,611 2,376 3,164 3,099

Forecast

Share of other comprehensive income of 

associates and joint ventures 

Budget
Strategic Resource Plan

Projections
Budget

2019/2020 Proposed Budget 15 Mount Alexander Shire Council



Mount Alexander: innovative, creative, connected

Balance Sheet
For the four years ending 30 June 2023

2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9,706 14,318 7,772 12,089 9,421 13,170

Trade and other receivables 2,690 3,345 3,226 3,230 3,386 3,420

Inventories 70 70 70 70 70 70

Non-current assets classified as held for 

sale
75 75 75 75 75 75

Total current assets 4.2.1 12,541 17,808 11,142 15,464 12,952 16,735

Non-current assets

Investments in associates 767 766 766 766 766 766

Property, infrastructure, plant & 

equipment
312,667 341,455 348,915 348,335 351,165 349,961

Intangible assets 447 443 286 126 66 6

Total non-current assets 4.2.1 313,881 342,664 349,967 349,227 351,997 350,733

Total assets 326,422 360,472 361,109 364,691 364,949 367,468

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,661 1,696 1,759 1,847 1,866 1,910

Trust funds and deposits 819 814 806 798 790 782

Provisions 3,397 3,752 5,019 4,366 2,088 2,032

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 538 487 482 1,542 567 507

Total current liabilities 4.2.2 6,415 6,749 8,066 8,553 5,311 5,231

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 1,209 4,573 1,759 335 341 347

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 3,282 3,438 2,961 5,105 5,360 4,853

Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 4,491 8,011 4,720 5,440 5,701 5,200

Total liabilities 10,906 14,760 12,786 13,993 11,012 10,431

Net assets 315,516 345,712 348,323 350,698 353,937 357,037

Equity

Accumulated surplus 115,857 106,686 113,382 118,185 123,015 125,016

Reserves 4.3.1 199,659 239,026 234,941 232,513 230,922 232,020

Total equity 4.3.2 315,516 345,712 348,323 350,698 353,937 357,036

ForecastBudget Budget
Strategic Resource Plan

Projections
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the four years ending 30 June 2023

Total
Accumulated 

Surplus

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2019 Forecast

Balance at beginning of the financial year 347,214 103,284 225,809 18,121

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (1,502) (1,502) - -

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -

Transfers to other reserves - (4,269) - 4,269

Transfers from other reserves - 9,173 - (9,173)

Balance at end of the financial year 345,712 106,686 225,809 13,217

2020 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 345,712 106,686 225,809 13,217

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,611 2,611 - -

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -

Transfers to other reserves 4.3.1 - (1,317) - 1,317

Transfers from other reserves 4.3.1 - 5,402 - (5,402)

Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 348,323 113,382 225,809 9,132

2021

Balance at beginning of the financial year 348,323 113,382 225,809 9,132

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,376 2,376 - -

Net asset revaluation 

increment/(decrement) - - - -

Transfers to other reserves - (1,362) - 1,362

Transfers from other reserves - 3,790 - (3,790)

350,698 118,185 225,809 6,704

2022

Balance at beginning of the financial year 350,698 118,185 225,809 6,704

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 3,164 3,164 - -

Net asset revaluation 

increment/(decrement) 75 - 75 -

Transfers to other reserves - (3,911) - 3,911

Transfers from other reserves - 5,577 - (5,577)

353,937 123,015 225,884 5,038

2023

Balance at beginning of the financial year 353,937 123,015 225,884 5,038

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 3,099 3,099 - -

Net asset revaluation 

increment/(decrement) - - - -

Transfers to other reserves - (1,223) - 1,223

Transfers from other reserves - 125 - (125)

357,036 125,016 225,884 6,136Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the four years ending 30 June 2023

2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows

(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Rates and charges 23,647 23,185 24,285 24,655 25,316 26,063

Statutory fees and fines 1,022 1,148 1,038 1,053 1,078 1,107

User fees 921 1,177 1,147 1,169 1,203 1,241

Grants - operating 4,845 4,915 7,299 7,656 7,859 8,089

Grants - capital 2,156 1,775 4,526 4,184 4,722 4,550

Contributions - monetary 70 - - - - -

Interest received 435 575 546 554 563 571

Trust funds and deposits (8) (5) (8) (8) (8) (8)

Other receipts 1,984 624 418 422 430 439

Employee costs (15,245) (13,905) (15,831) (16,378) (16,981) (17,556)

Materials and services (9,870) (10,045) (8,222) (9,056) (9,036) (9,606)

Other payments (5,675) (1,568) (2,982) (4,620) (3,829) (1,607)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 

operating activities 

4.4.1
4,282 7,876 12,215 9,632 11,318 13,283

(12,145) (11,778) (18,387) (8,643) (13,281) (8,922)

272 247 272 275 275 198

- - - - -
Loan and advances made (1) - (1) 20 20 20

Net cash provided by/ (used in) 

investing activities 

4.4.2
(11,874) (11,531) (18,116) (8,348) (12,986) (8,704)

Finance costs (194) (194) (164) (171) (279) (263)

Proceeds from borrowings - - - 3,500 833 -

Repayment of borrowings (525) (477) (482) (296) (1,553) (567)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 

financing activities 

4.4.3
(719) (671) (646) 3,033 (1,000) (829)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash 

equivalents 
(8,311) (4,326) (6,546) 4,317 (2,668) 3,749

18,017 18,644 14,318 7,772 12,089 9,421

9,706 14,318 7,772 12,089 9,421 13,170

Strategic Resource Plan ProjectionsBudget

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

financial year 

ForecastBudget

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

financial year 

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment 

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, 

plant and equipment 

Cash flows from financing activities 
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Statement of Capital Works
For the four years ending 30 June 2023

2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property

Land improvements 292 - 140 416 904 663

Total land 292 - 140 416 904 663

Buildings 3,433 3,263 2,259 1,469 1,878 1,960

Total buildings 3,433 3,263 2,259 1,469 1,878 1,960

Total property 3,725 3,263 2,399 1,885 2,782 2,622

Plant and equipment

905 631 1,025 715 847 828

Computers and telecommunications 331 386 389 250 270 250

Total plant and equipment 1,236 1,017 1,414 965 1,117 1,078

Infrastructure

Roads 3,600 5,023 5,398 2,031 2,153 2,130

Bridges 829 204 2,436 796 942 982

Footpaths and cycleways 460 363 1,599 508 759 673

Drainage 903 826 1,152 569 309 475

Other infrastructure - - 518 - - -

Recreation, leisure and community 

facilities
- 836 1,014 398 58 59

Waste management 600 246 785 705 3,862 -

Total infrastructure 6,392 7,498 12,902 5,008 8,083 4,319

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 11,353 11,778 16,715 7,858 11,982 8,020

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 1,484 1,484 1,698 481 259 480

Asset renewal expenditure 8,438 8,863 10,154 5,751 8,945 7,345

Asset expansion expenditure 844 844 148 460 94 98

Asset upgrade expenditure 587 587 4,714 1,166 2,685 98

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 11,353 11,778 16,715 7,858 11,982 8,020

Grants 2,101 1,775 4,459 1,666 4,707 4,528

Contributions 154 227 - - - -

Council cash 9,098 9,776 12,256 2,692 6,442 3,492

Borrowings - - - 3,500 833 -

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 11,353 11,778 16,715 7,858 11,982 8,020

Forecast Strategic Resource Plan ProjectionsBudget

Plant, machinery and equipment

Funding sources represented by:

Budget
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Statement of Human Resources
For the four years ending 30 June 2023

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating 14,621 15,162 15,694 16,244 16,813

Employee costs - capital 818 724 737 750 763

Total staff expenditure 15,439 15,886 16,430 16,993 17,575

Staff numbers FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Employees 163.6 166.3 166.3 166.3 166.3

Total staff numbers 163.6 166.3 166.3 166.3 166.3

Budget

2019/20 Full Time Part time

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Business Performance 1,252 870 382 -

Communications and Customer Services 1,306 575 679 52

Community Partnerships 910 131 736 43

Community Places and Spaces 1,873 608 1,265 -

Community Wellbeing 1,972 1,972 - -

Development Services 2,062 1,288 757 17

Economy and Culture 454 252 202 -

Executive 968 908 60 -

Infrastructure 2,706 2,585 121 -

Organisational Capability 1,000 940 60 -

Total permanent staff expenditure 14,503 10,129 4,262 112

Other employee expenses 659

Capitalised labour costs 724

Total expenditure 15,886

Budget

2019/20 Full Time Part time

Business Performance 12.0 8.0 4.0 -

Communications and Customer Services 15.4 5.6 9.3 0.5

Community Partnerships 9.8 2.0 7.4 0.4

Community Places and Spaces 22.1 18.9 3.2 -

Community Wellbeing 23.8 6.0 17.8 -

Development Services 21.5 12.6 8.7 0.2

Economy and Culture 4.4 2.0 2.4 -

Executive 5.7 5.0 0.7 -

Infrastructure 33.3 31.9 1.4 -

Organisational Capability 10.2 6.6 3.6 -

Total permanent staff expenditure 158.3 98.6 58.6 1.1

Capitalised labour costs 8.0

Total staff 166.3

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included below:

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure is included below:

Permanent

Permanent

Casual

Casual

Department

Department

Comprises

Comprises

Budget
Strategic Resource Plan Projections

Budget
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4. Notes to the financial statements 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement

4.1.1 Rates and charges

$’000 $’000 $’000

General rates*           18,709            19,520                  811 4.33%

Waste management charge             4,275              4,417                  142 3.32%

Supplementary rates and rate adjustments                100                   30 (70) -70.00%

Trust for Nature rebate (40) (40) 0 0.00%

Total rates and charges           23,044            23,927                  883 3.83%

2018/2019 2019/2020

cents/$CIV cents/$CIV*

General rate for rateable residential properties         0.37900          0.35440 -6.49%

General rate for rateable farm properties         0.37900          0.35440 -6.49%

General rate for rateable land management properties         0.30320          0.28352 -6.49%

General rate for rateable commercial properties         0.49270          0.46072 -6.49%

General rate for rateable vacant land properties         0.75800          0.70880 -6.49%

*These items are subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS

Type or class of land Change

Rates in the dollar are subject to minor amendments when the general revaluation is completed. Final rates will be adopted by 

Council at its meeting on 12 June 2019.

4.1.1(b)  The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of 

land compared with the previous financial year

This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. Council needs to 

assess which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature of these components.

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget.

In developing the Strategic Resource Plan, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. 

Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the Strategic Resource Planning 

process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. 

For 2019/2020 the FGRS cap has been set at 2.5%. The cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges 

and is calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and charges.  

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other 

sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community.

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the average 

general rate and the municipal charge will increase by 2.5% in line with the rate cap. 

This will raise total rates and charges for 2019/2020 to $23.93 million.

2018/2019

Budget

2019/2020

Budget

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income

Statement is as follows:

Change
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2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Residential           13,288            14,156 868 6.53%

Farm             1,215              1,087 (128) -10.53%

Land management             1,076              1,305 229 21.28%

Commercial             1,594              1,450 (144) -9.03%

Vacant land             1,536              1,522 (14) -0.91%

Total amount to be raised by general rates           18,709            19,520 811 4.33%

2018/2019 2019/2020

Number Number Number %

Residential             8,933              8,968 35 0.39%

Farm                540                 480 (60) -11.11%

Land management                448                 522 74 16.52%

Commercial                496                 545 49 9.88%

Vacant land             1,227              1,215 (12) -0.98%

Total number of assessments           11,644            11,730                   86 0.74%

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV).

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Residential      3,204,704       3,994,274           789,570 24.64%

Farm         293,220          307,017 13,797 4.71%

Land management         295,779          460,158 164,379 55.57%

Commercial         324,432          314,649 (9,783) -3.02%

Vacant land         185,225          214,682             29,457 15.90%

Total value of land      4,303,360       5,290,780           987,420 22.95%

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the 

estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of assessments, 

compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, compared with 

the previous financial year

4.1.1 continued

Type or class of land
Change
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Per Rateable 

Property

Per Rateable 

Property

2018/2019 2019/2020

 $  $  $ %

Kerbside collection 80 litre bin                420                 433 13 3.10%

Kerbside collection 140 litre bin                610                 628 18 2.95%

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Kerbside collection 80 litre bin             1,007              1,137 130 12.87%

Kerbside collection 140 litre bin             3,268              3,280 12 0.37%

Total             4,275              4,417 142 3.32%

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Residential           13,288            14,156                  868 6.53%

Farm             1,215              1,087 (128) -10.53%

Land management             1,076              1,305 229 21.28%

Commercial             1,594              1,450 (144) -9.03%

Vacant land             1,536              1,522 (14) -0.91%

Supplementary rates                100                   30 (70) -70.00%

Kerbside collection 80 litre bin             1,007              1,137                  130 12.87%

Kerbside collection 140 litre bin             3,268              3,280                   12 0.37%

Trust for Nature rebate (40) (40) 0 0.00%

Total rates and charges           23,044            23,927                  883 3.83%

4.1.1(j) Fair Go Rates System Compliance

2019/2020

$’000

 $         19,098 

            11,761 

 $      1,623.82 

2.50%

 $      1,664.41 

 $         19,527 

 $         19,520 

Budgeted Supplementary Rates  $                30 

 $         19,550 

4.1.1(i) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial year

Mount Alexander Shire Council is required to comply with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS).  

The table below details the budget assumptions consistent with the requirements of the Fair Go Rates System.

Change

Base Average Rate

 Type of Charge
Change

Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue

Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government)

Maximum General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue

Capped Average Rate

4.1.1 continued

4.1.1(g) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the Act 

compared with the previous financial year

Change
 Type of Charge

2018/2019 annualised rates

Number of rateable properties as at 30 June 2019

4.1.1(h)  The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated total 

amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year

Budgeted Total Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue
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•      The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)

•      Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa

•      Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa.

4.1.1(l) Rates to be levied

4.1.1(m) Differential rates

General  rate

General farm rate

Commercial land rate

Land management rate 

Vacant land rate

•      The making of supplementary valuations (2019/2020: estimated $30,000 and 2018/2019: $100,000)

4.1.1(k) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. 

However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by:

The Trust For Nature Covenants receive a 100% rebate for that portion of land covered by a TFNC. 

4.1.1(n) Trust For Nature Covenants (TFNC)

4.1.1 continued

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are:

* A general rate of 0.3544% (0.3544 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable general and residential properties

* A general rate of 0.3544% (0.3544 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable farming properties

* A general rate of 0.46072% (0.46072 cents in the dollar of CIV) for rateable commercial properties

* A general rate of 0.28352% (0.28352 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable farming properties on land

management rate

* A general rate of 0.7088% (0.7088 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable vacant residential land

Rates in the dollar are subject to minor amendments when the general revaluation is completed. Final rates will be adopted by 

Council at its meeting on 12 June 2019.

General rates include residential properties and home based businesses that are conducted at residential premises.

Vacant land that is not farm land and cannot be developed for residential purposes is also classified as general.  

The general farm rates applies to land with an area greater than 20 hectares that undertakes farming activity.

Properties on the farm rate are able to apply for a single farm enterprise concession where only one municipal

charge is paid though there is more than one assessment.

Commercial land is any land, which is occupied for the principal purpose of carrying out the manufacture or

production of, or trade in, goods or services.  The Commercial rate is set at 130% of the general rate.

The Land Management rate is a concession available to properties currently rated as a farm with an area greater

than 20 hectares, or properties who operate a farm business, that have or will undertake a pest and weed control

program.  It is available upon annual application and the rate is set at 80% of the general rate.

The vacant land rate applies to rateable residential land that does not have a dwelling and is set at 200% of the

general rate.
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4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Animal control                204                 207 3 1.60%

Planning permit and fees                330                 348 18 5.41%

Health registrations                124                 122 (2) -1.48%

Local laws                129                 114 (15) -11.96%

Parking fines                  70                 104 34 47.91%

Other fines                140                 128 (12) -8.40%

Total statutory fees and fines                997              1,023 26 2.57%

4.1.3 User fees

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Home and community care                383                 398 15 3.85%

Tourism services                  74                   69 (5) -6.35%

Facility hire                  63                   49 (14) -21.45%

Engineering services                  98                 190 91 92.74%

Waste management services                260                 295 35 13.62%

Other fees and charges                144            128.89 (15) -10.35%

Total user fees             1,022              1,130 108 10.60%

User charges relate to the recovery of service delivery costs by charging fees to the users of Council’s services. 

These include the use of recreation and other community facilities and the provision of home and community care 

services. In setting the budget, the key principle for determining the level of user charges has been to ensure that 

increases do not exceed CPI increases or market levels.

Change

Statutory fees and fines relate mainly to fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation and include animal 

registrations, public health registrations and parking fines. Increases in statutory fees are made in accordance with 

legislative requirements. Revenue from statutory fees is budgeted to increase by $54,000 (5.41%) compared to 

2018/2019, predominately due to increased parking and other fines.

Change
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4.1.4 Grants

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

 Grants were received in respect of the following: 

Commonwealth funded grants             5,351              9,404               4,054 76%

State funded grants             1,473              2,246                  773 53%

Total grants received             6,823            11,650               4,827 71%

(a)    Operating Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Financial Assistance             2,467              4,898               2,431 99%

Early Years                    5                     3 (2) -33%

Aged and Disability             1,325              1,425 100 8%

Recurrent - State Government

Youth                  61                   65                     4 6%

Early Years                198                 243                   45 23%

Emergency Management                120                 120                    -   0%

Aged and Disability                262                 213 (49) -19%

Other Grants                149                   55 (94) -63%

Financial Assistance                  -                     46                   46 100%

Community safety                  -                     55                   55 100%

Total recurrent grants             4,587              7,123               2,536 55%

Non-recurrent - State Government

Infrastructure                110                    -   (110) -100%

Youth                  25                    -   (25) -100%

Social Housing                  -                     28                   28 100%

Recreation and leisure                  -                     30                   30 100%

Other                  -                     10                   10 100%

Total non-recurrent grants                135                   68 (67) -50%

Total operating grants             4,722              7,191               2,469 52%

(b)    Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Roads to Recovery             1,554                 948 (606) -39%

Total recurrent grants             1,554                 948 (606) -39%

Non-recurrent - State Government

Buildings                100                     8 (92) -92%

Drainage                  54                    -   (54) -100%

Land Improvement                  -                   417                  417 100%

Road Rehabilitation                  -                1,583               1,583 100%

Recreation and leisure                196                 259                   63 32%

Total non-recurrent grants                547              3,511               2,964 542%

Total capital grants             2,101              4,459               2,358 112%

Total grants             6,823            11,650               4,827 70.75%

Change

Operating grants include all monies received from state and federal sources for the purposes of funding the delivery 

of Council’s services to ratepayers. Overall, the level of operating grants will increase by $2.47 million compared to 

2018/2019.

Capital grants include all monies received from state, federal and community sources for the purposes of funding the 

capital works program. Overall capital grants will increase by $2.36 million compared to 2018/2019, generally due to 

funding expected to be received several State Government funding programs.

Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget.
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4.1.5 Contributions

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Monetary                  70                 120 50 71.43%

Non-monetary                  -                     29 29 100.00%

Total contributions                  70                 149 79 112.57%

4.1.6 Other income

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Interest                435                 546 111 25.52%

Rent                107                 159 52 48.60%

Other                261                 133 (128) -49.18%

Total other income                803                 838 35 4.32%

4.1.7 Employee costs

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Wages and salaries           12,841            13,205                  364 2.84%

WorkCover                180                 310                  130 72.22%

Superannuation             1,172              1,212                   40 3.45%

Fringe Benefits Tax                  60                   61                     1 1.67%

Other                368                 374                     6 1.58%

Total employee costs           14,621            15,162                  541 3.70%

A summary of human resources expenditure and full-time equivalent (FTE) categorised according to the

organisational structure of Council is included at Section 3.

Monetary contributions include open space contributions from developers. Non-monetary contributions include 

capital works required under lease agreements.

The decrease in the other category of other income is a result of a one-off reimbursement being received in 

2018/2019 for the Doug Powell Oval lighting project ($150,000). Additionally, Council is expecting greater interest to 

be received in 2019/2020 for investments and overdue rates.

Change

Change

Change

Employee costs include all labour related expenditure such as wages and salaries, and oncosts such as allowances,

leave entitlements, employer superannuation, workers compensation insurance and rostered days off. Employee

costs are budgeted to increase by 3.7%, or $541,000, compared to 2018/2019.
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4.1.8 Materials and services

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Service providers             6,128              6,646 518 8.46%

Materials             1,234              1,126 (108) -8.78%

Utilities                451                 599 148 32.73%

Office administration                296                 310 14 4.84%

Information technology                437                 535 98 22.33%

Insurance                326                 310 (16) -4.97%

Plant costs                454                 617 163 35.90%

Other                    1 1 0 0.00%

Total materials and services             9,327            10,143 816 8.75%

4.1.9 Depreciation and amortisation

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Property             2,370              2,387 17 0.73%

Plant & equipment                795                 801 6 0.76%

Infrastructure             5,201              5,455 254 4.88%

Intangibles                155                 157 2 1.29%

Total depreciation and amortisation             8,521              8,800 279 3.28%

4.1.10 Other expenses

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Audit fees                  74                   81 7 9.46%

Councillors' allowances                224                 219 (6) -2.46%

Regional library contribution                516                 527 11 2.12%

Contributions - fee waivers                  13                   26 13 100.00%

Contributions - community grants                369                 369 0 0.01%

Contributions - other                  19                   43 24 124.53%

Government levies payable                354                 159 (195) -54.97%

Total other expenses             1,569              1,424 (145) -9.27%

Change

Change

Change

Depreciation is an accounting measure and is a non-cash item which attempts to allocate the depreciable value of an

asset over its useful life for Council’s property, plant and equipment and infrastructure assets such as roads and

drains. There has been a significant increase in the depreciation of bridges due to a revaluation of all bridge assets

effective 1 July 2018.

Other expenses relate to a range of unclassified items including contributions to community groups, councillor

allowances, auditing fees and other miscellaneous expenditure items. Government levies payable will decrease by

$195,000 from 2018/2019 due to the landfill levy not being paid direct to EPA as per changes to the waste

management operating model.

Materials and services include the purchases of consumables, payments to contractors for the provision of services

and utility costs. Materials and services are budgeted to increase by $811,000 or 8.7% compared to the 2018/2019

budget. This increase is mainly due to increased cost of contract payments and utilities. In addition, changes to the

waste management operating model will result in the cost of the EPA landfill levy being moved from other expenses

(Note 4.1.10) to services providers ($195,000).
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4.2 Balance Sheet

4.2.1 Assets
Current assets ($6.67 million decrease) and non-current assets ($7.3 million increase)

4.2.2 Liabilities
Current liabilities ($1.32 million increase) and non-current liabilities ($3.29 million decrease)

4.2.3 Borrowings

2018/2019 2019/2020

$ $

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year             4,402              3,925 

Amount proposed to be borrowed                  -   -

Amount projected to be redeemed (477) (482)

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June             3,925              3,443 

The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash held, such as petty cash or at-call bank accounts, and investments in 

deposits or other highly liquid investments with short term maturities. These balances are expected to decrease by 

$6.72 million due to the significant capital works program being undertaken.

Trade and other receivables are monies owed to Council by ratepayers and others. Short term debtors are expected 

to have a minor decrease during 2019/2020 as outstanding debts continued to be paid to Council.

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is the largest component of Council's net worth and represents the 

value of all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment etc. which has been built up by Council over many years. 

The increase in this balance is attributable to the extensive capital works program being undertaken, as well as 

depreciation.

Trade and other payables are those to whom Council owes money as at 30 June. These liabilities are not expected 

to change significantly.

Provisions include accrued long service leave and annual leave entitlements, as well as landfill rehabilitation. Overall 

provisions are expected to decrease as works commence on cell capping at the Castlemaine landfill ($1.5 million).

Interest bearing liabilities will decrease due to principal repayments being made.
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4.3 Statement of changes in equity

4.3.1 Reserves

Forecast Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000

14,318 7,772 (6,546)

(1,120) (915) 205

(814) (806) 8

12,384 6,051 (6,333)

(12,097) (8,217) 3,880

287 (2,166) (2,453)

4.3.2 Equity

Equity ($2.61 million increase)

Restricted cash and investments

- Statutory reserves

- Trust funds and deposits

Unrestricted cash and investments

Unrestricted cash adjusted for discretionary reserves

Variance

Some cash and cash equivalents held by council are restricted in part and are not fully available for Council’s

operations. The budgeted cash flow statement indicates Council estimates that at 30 June 2020 it will have cash and

investments of $7.72 million, which are restricted as shown in the following table.

- Discretionary reserves

Total cash and investments

Total equity always equals net assets and is made up of the following components:

* Asset revaluation reserve which represents the difference between the previously recorded value of assets and

their current valuations

* Other reserves representing funds that Council wishes to separately identify as being set aside to meet a specific

purpose in the future and to which there is no existing liability. These amounts are transferred from the accumulated

surplus of the Council to be separately disclosed

* Accumulated surplus which is the value of all net assets less reserves that have accumulated over time. The

increase in accumulated surplus results directly from the operating surplus for the year, and net result of reserve

transfers.
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4.4 Statement of Cash Flows

4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by/used in operating activities

Budget Budget

2018/2019 2019/2020

$’000 $’000 $’000

Surplus (deficit) for the year (1,964) 2,612 4,576

Depreciation 8,521 8,800 279

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, infrastructure,

plant and equipment (485) (394) 91

Finance costs 194 164 (30)

Net movement in current assets and liabilities (1,983) 1,034 3,017

4,282 12,215 7,932

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by/used in investing activities

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by/used in financing activities

Cash flows available from operating activities

Variance

The payments for investing activities represents the capital works expenditure as disclosed in section 4.5 of this 

budget report.

For 2019/2020 no new borrowings are proposed.

The increase in cash inflows from operating activities arises mainly because of the increase in government grants to 

be received - the 2019/2020 VGC grants expected to be fully received in 2019/2020 and not paid early (and received 

in June 2019).  Capital grants are also expected to increase due to the Fixing Country Roads program. Other 

payments are expected to increase due to the capping of cells at the Castlemaine Landfill (funded from the waste 

reserve). 

The net cash flows from operating activities does not equal the surplus (deficit) for the year as the surplus (deficit) for 

the year includes non-cash items which have been excluded from the Cash Flow Statement e.g. depreciation. 

Operating activities ($4.34 million increase)
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4.5 Capital works program

4.5.1 Summary

Budget Budget

2018/19 2019/20

$’000 $’000 $’000

Property                 3,725           2,399 (1,326) -35.60%

Plant and equipment                 1,236           1,414                178 14.40%

Infrastructure                 6,392         12,902             6,510 101.85%

Total               11,353         16,715             5,362 47.23%

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Property                 2,399                32             1,540               802                    25                     8                -                   2,391                       -   

Plant and equipment                 1,414                 -               1,329                 25                    60                    -                  -                   1,414                       -   

Infrastructure               12,902           1,662             7,289            3,889                    63              4,451                -                   8,451                       -   

Total               16,715           1,694           10,157            4,716                  148              4,459                -                 12,256                       -   

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2019/2020 year, classified by expenditure type and funding source. Works are also disclosed as current 

budget or carried forward from prior year.

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project Cost

Change
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4.5.2 Current Budget

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

PROPERTY

Land Improvements

Levee design                      40                 -                     -                   40                     -                      -                  -                        40                       -   

Worksite environmental remediation                    100                 -                  100                  -                       -                      -                  -                      100                       -   

Buildings

Castlemaine Market Building works                    209                 -                  209                  -                       -                      -                  -                      209                       -   

Priority pool works program                    150                 -                  150                  -                       -                      -                  -                      150                       -   

Solar systems priority sites                      25                 -                     -                    -                      25                    -                  -                        25                       -   

Female friendly change rooms                    723                 -                     -                 723                     -                      -                  -                      723                       -   

Library floor structure safety works                    404                 -                  404                  -                       -                      -                  -                      404                       -   

Machinery and equipment storage                      27                27                   -                    -                       -                      -                  -                        27                       -   

Community buildings and facilities                    607                  5                563                 39                     -                      -                  -                      607                       -   

TOTAL PROPERTY                 2,285                32             1,426               802                    25                    -                  -                   2,285                       -   

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant, Machinery and Equipment

Motor vehicle replacement                    335                 -                  335                  -                       -                      -                  -                      335                       -   

Major plant replacement                    690                 -                  690                  -                       -                      -                  -                      690                       -   

Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture

Town Hall stage lighting                      25                 -                     -                   25                     -                      -                  -                        25                       -   

Computers and Telecommunications

Server and workstation renewal program                    131                 -                  131                  -                       -                      -                  -                      131                       -   

Integrated corporate platform                    113                 -                  113                  -                       -                      -                  -                      113                       -   

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT                 1,294                 -               1,269                 25                     -                      -                  -                   1,294                       -   

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Project Cost
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4.5.2 Current Budget continued

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

INFRASTRUCTURE

Roads

Road rehabilitation                 2,980                 -               1,771            1,209                     -                2,286                -                      694                       -   

Local roads resealing                 1,269                 -               1,269                  -                       -                      -                  -                   1,269                       -   

Gravel road resheeting                    619                 -                  619                  -                       -                      -                  -                      619                       -   

Pavement designs                    288                 -                  126               162                     -                      -                  -                      288                       -   

Bridges

Bridge designs                    160                 -                    80                 80                     -                      -                  -                      160                       -   

Eagles Road Bridge replacement                    528                 -                  264               264                     -                   264                -                      264                       -   

Froomes Road Bridge replacement                    960                 -                  480               480                     -                   480                -                      480                       -   

Footpaths and Cycleways

Footpath rehabilitation and construction                 1,400           1,159                147                 94                     -                   500                -                      900                       -   

Footpath design                      90                90                   -                    -                       -                      -                  -                        90                       -   

Drainage

Drainage rehabilitation and construction                    182                 -                    27               155                     -                      -                  -                      182                       -   

Saint Street - Stage 2                    170                 -                     -                 170                     -                      -                  -                      170                       -   

Minor drainage works                      30                 -                     -                   30                     -                      -                  -                        30                       -   

Campbells Creek levee upgrade                    626                 -                     -                 626                     -                   417                -                      209                       -   

Waste Management

Resource Recovery Centre                    145                 -                    73                 36                    36                    -                  -                      145                       -   

Play Spaces and Recreation Facilities

Morrissey Reserve play space                      65                 -                    65                  -                       -                      -                  -                        65                       -   

Stanley Park North play space                    366              366                   -                    -                       -                   250                -                      116                       -   

Other Infrastructure

Small-town streetscapes                    100                 -                     -                 100                     -                      -                  -                      100                       -   

Maldon streetscapes rejuvenation                    170                 -                  170                  -                       -                      -                  -                      170                       -   

Harmony Way revitalisation                      80                 -                    40                 40                     -                      -                  -                        80                       -   

Public place recycling bins                      20                20                   -                    -                       -                      -                  -                        20                       -   

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE               10,248           1,635             5,131            3,446                    36              4,197                -                   6,051                       -   

TOTAL NEW CAPITAL WORKS               13,826           1,667             7,825            4,273                    61              4,197                -                   9,629                       -   

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Capital Works Area
Project Cost
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4.5.3 Works carried forward from the 2018/2019 year

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

PROPERTY

Castlemaine Market Building conservation works                      52                 -                    52                  -                       -                       8                -                        45                       -   

Female Friendly Change Rooms Design                      62                 -                    62                  -                       -                      -                  -                        62                       -   

TOTAL PROPERTY                    114                 -                  114                  -                       -                       8                -                      106                       -   

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computers and Telecommunications

Integrated Corporate platform                    120                 -                    60                  -                      60                    -                  -                      120                       -   

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT                    120                 -                    60                  -                      60                    -                  -                      120                       -   

Project Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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4.5.3 Works carried forward from the 2018/2019 year continued

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

INFRASTRUCTURE

Roads

Maldon streetscape works                    145                 -                  145                  -                       -                      -                  -                      145                       -   

Harcourt Infrastructure                      50                 -                    50                  -                       -                      -                  -                        50                       -   

Safety improvement - Golden Point Road                      48                 -                    48                  -                       -                     48                -                         -                         -   

Bridges

Campbells Creek Fryers Road Bridge                    788                 -                  788                  -                       -                   197                -                      591                       -   

Footpaths and Cycleways

Castlemaine CBD Streetscape                    108                  54                 27                    27                    108 

Drainage

Corner Hargraves and Forest Streets                    107                 -                  107                  -                       -                      -                  -                      107                       -   

Saint Street stage 2                      37                 -                    37                  -                       -                      -                  -                        37                       -   

Waste Management                       -   

Maldon e-waste infrastructure                      40                 -                    40                  -                       -                        40 

Castlemaine Resource Recovery Centre                    600                 -                  400               200                     -                      -                  -                      600                       -   

Play Spaces and Recreation Facilities                       -   

Doug Powell Oval floodlights                      19                19                   -                    -                       -                      -                  -                        19                       -   

Victory Park play space                    432                 -                  216               216                     -                       9                -                      423                       -   

Norwood Hill Recreation Reserve                    110                 -                  110                  -                       -                      -                  -                      110                       -   

Major Reserves  Master Plan Review                      15                 -                    15                  -                       -                      -                  -                        15                       -   

Taradale Mineral Springs Recreation Reserve                        8                  8                   -                    -                       -                      -                  -                          8                       -   

Other Infrastructure                       -   

Streetscape planning and design                    148                 -                  148                  -                       -                      -                  -                      148                       -   

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE                 2,654                27             2,158               443                    27                 254                -                   2,400                       -   

TOTAL CARRIED FORWARD CAPITAL WORKS 

FROM 2018/2019
                2,888                27             2,332               443                    87                 262                -                   2,626                       -   

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Project Cost
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5. Financial performance indicators

Actual Budget Budget Trend

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 +/o/-

Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 

underlying revenue
1 -5% -13.5% -5.5% -5.2% -4.3% -3.9% +

Liquidity

Working Capital Current assets / current liabilities 2 223% 195% 138.14% 181% 244% 320% o

Unrestricted cash Unrestricted cash / current liabilities 3 169% 183% 75.0% 123.7% 148.8% 222.5% o

Obligations

Loans and borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate 

revenue
4 24% 16.6% 14% 27.1% 23.5% 20.7% o

Loans and borrowings
Interest and principal repayments on interest 

bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue
4% 3.1% 2.7% 1.9% 7.3% 3.2% o

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities / own source revenue 23% 17.3% 17.5% 19.6% 20.0% 17.8% -

Asset renewal Asset renewal expenses / Asset depreciation 5 89% 99% 115% 64.7% 100.7% 82.7% o

Stability

Rates concentration Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue 54% 71.4% 62.5% 62.5% 61.9% 62.4% o

Rates effort
Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the 

municipality
44% 43.6% 37% 36.1% 35.2% 34.4% -

Efficiency

Expenditure level Total expenses/ no. of property assessments $2,984 $2,940 $3,044 $3,121 $3,155 $3,197 +

Revenue level
Residential rate revenue / no. of residential property 

assessments
$1.39 $1.49 $1.58 $1.60 $1.63 $1.65 +

Key to Forecast Trend:

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide 

a useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections

Operating position

 Indicator Measure

N
o

te
s

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

15% 12% 12% 12% 12%Workforce turnover
No. of permanent staff resignations & terminations / 

average no. of permanent staff for the financial year
12% o

 - Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
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Notes to indicators 

5.      Asset renewal

1.      Adjusted underlying result

An indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue to provide core services and meet its objectives. Improvement in 

financial performance expected over the period, although continued losses means reliance on Council's cash reserves or increased debt to maintain 

services.

2.      Working Capital

The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working capital is forecast to decrease due to a reduction in cash reserves to fund the 

capital program.  The trend in later years is to increase again slightly.

3.      Unrestricted Cash

Some cash held by council is restricted in part and is not fully available for Council’s operations. The reduction from previous year is due to cash reserves 

being utilised to fund significant capital works.

This ratio is anticipated to increase in 2020/2021 when further loan borrowings will be undertaken to fund works for the Resource and Recovery Station.

This percentage indicates the extent of Council's renewals against its depreciation charge (an indication of the decline in value of its existing capital 

assets). A percentage greater than 100 indicates Council is maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets are 

deteriorating faster than they are being renewed and future capital expenditure will be required to renew assets.

4.      Debt compared to rates
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1

Victorian 

Farmers 

Federation

No DOC/19/14184 24-April-2019

The VFF is concerned about the future sustainability of rates and the 

impact of rates on farms and requests that the rate cap applies to each 

individual rating category (as well as total rates as is the current 

legislation).  The VFF believes the pool of funding for rural and regional 

councils needs to be grown or responsibilities reduced, in order to lift the 

burden off a small rates base.

The State Government recently announced that it will be undertaking an inquiry into the local government 

rating system to identify changes to improve its fairness and equity, ensuring that the burden of rates falls 

fairly amongst all ratepayers. The review is expected to conclude in March 2020. This, along with a review of 

Council's Rating Strategy in 2020/21, will provide the VFF and other interested parties the opportunity to 

participate and provide feedback.

2
Anne 

Markiewicz
Yes DOC/19/16939 23-April-2019

Wishes to see the levee reconstruction around National School Lane in 

Campbells Creek included in the budget as the reconstruction of this 

levee may be one of the simplest as it is already partially in place. The 

lack of levees also impacts the application of flood overlays and results 

in limitations to the full use of the submitter's property and the capacity 

to purchase reasonably priced home insurance.

Council was unsuccessful in sourcing a grant to fund the construction of levees. We have been successful in 

sourcing a smaller amount of grant funding which will be used to progress the project via approvals and 

resolving land access issues during 2019/20. This will then allow Council to seek further funding to progress 

the levee construction.

3 Nick Farr No DOC/19/17184 23/04/2019

Requests funding to fix road issues in Cemetery Road Elphinstone. 

Cemetery Road is experiencing higher usage due to development in the 

area, as well as increased wildlife, that both contribute to safety 

concerns.

This request has been recorded in our Customer Request System and will be reviewed when considering 

work priorities for budget funding in the coming 12 months.

4 Joyce Sanders Yes DOC/19/17623 29-April-2019

2.2 Other Initiatives (13) - Does this include replacement of trees long-

lost in Barker Street, if yes, should priority have been in blocks below 

Templeton removed over 5 years ago?    

2.3 Our Economy - Services - Concern re drop in funds considering 

difficulties in streetscape and signage control as in Hargraves Street 

precinct

2.3 Our Economy - Major Initiatives - Smaller shire towns attract 

funding for streetscape works, but Castlemaine is always neglected, 

particularly Hargraves precinct.  Market Square needs urgent attention

4.1.3 User Fees - Facility Hire - Less restriction in "local only" arts 

program could bring greater income to Shire

4.1.4 Grants - Has any grant been sought for Castlemaine streetscape 

improvement and tree planting?

4.5.3 Footpaths and Cycleways - Castlemaine CBD Streetscape - 

Two items are different but listed as one.  Does this mean Council has 

$108,000 remaining for footpaths and cycleways?

Concern re headlines in Midland Express "Budget Blowout" - Implication 

extra funds for Victory Park Playground will be at the expense of 

Castlemaine CBD as a whole.  Lack of lobbying by Counsellors on the 

side of Castlemaine.

2.2 Other Initiatives - the additional $120,000 does not include replacement of trees in Barker Street but is to 

address:

- Botanical Gardens  : in line with recommendations of the Conservation Management Plan, an enhanced approach to

sustain older trees, where practical, is necessary to ensure the key qualities of the CBD as a heritage place are

conserved for the future.

- responsive tree maintenance:  Council tree maintenance programs fulfil Council’s legislative and management

obligations and aim to manage tree health and reduce the inherent risks associated with trees.  A number of proactive

tree maintenance programs in line with best practice have been established and over time, these ongoing proactive

programs will reduce the number of customer requests and storm related reactive tree work.  In the meantime, the

additional budget for reactive tree work will assist to satisfactorily service the number of requests for tree maintenance,

thereby limiting Council's exposure to risk.

- the Castlemaine Streetscape Plan and Design Standard: this  is not complete and as such, no tree planting is

scheduled within the Castlemaine CBD in 2019.  At this stage it is intended that tree planting will occur following the

opportunity for community feedback and Council adoption of the document.

2.3 Our Economy Services - A streetscape plan for Castlemaine is being finalised and will be used as the basis for

grant applications. Some minor elements will be able to be delivered using Council funds in future years once the plan

is adopted.

2.3 Our Economy Major Initiatives - See above comment.

4.1.3 User Fees Facility Hire - the Phee Broadway Theatre is still operated under a facility-for-hire-model. There is no

restriction on non-local users hiring the facility, with the At Home Program only occupying the theatre for 25% of the

year

4.1.4 Grants - See comments related to Castlemaine Streetscape plan (2.3).

4.5.3 Footpaths and Cycleways (Castlemaine CBD Streetscape) - The $108,000 is for the design of Frederick

Street.

Victory Park playspace budget - The decision to proceed with the construction of Victory Park playspace has been

informed by a rigorous community consultation process, procurement process and relevant Council plans and

strategies.  Councillors have endorsed the project.  It is believed that this playspace will become a fun and inclusive

focal point for visitors to the Castlemaine CBD.

5 Alison Woollard No DOC/19/18473 03-May-2019

Requesting hard rubbish collection, either a one off or irregular intervals 

of several years.  Many residents, especially the elderly, do not have the 

ability or resources to take large items to the tip.  A hard rubbish 

collection would reduce dumped rubbish in the bush as residents would 

have a solution to their hard waste problems. In other areas with a hard 

rubbish collection, most items are removed by others who repurpose 

and what is left is genuine rubbish. This is a good thing for the 

environment and a great way to recycle.

Staff continue to investigate ways to increase resource recovery and recycling but it is not currently 

recommended to provide a hard rubbish collection service.   The main reason for this is that hard rubbish 

collection is prohibitively expensive and only manages to recycle a small amount of the material collected. 

Due to the significant costs involved with the separation of materials, transport costs, labour costs and 

processing, most material is sent to landfill. Hard rubbish collections also have to manage the resource 

intensive issues of public health and safety and scavenging.   An increasing number of Councils that once 

provided a hard waste collection have ceased or are in the process of ceasing the service due to the issues 

described above.
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6 Chris Johnston No DOC/19/19974 13-May-2019

The Newstead Arts Hub Committee commends the inclusion of $10,000 

for upgrading Memorial Park in Newstead.  The Newstead Arts Hub 

Committee supports the proposal, subject to the resolution of lease 

arrangements, redesign of the garden area and provision of access 

paths.

The support of the Newstead Arts Hub Committee and wider community is appreciated. We will work with 

the Committee to address the issues they have raised.

7

Castlemaine 

Community 

House

Yes DOC/19/20098 14-May-2019

Requests that funding for the Mondo Lounge youth space be expanded 

to deliver a LGBTIQ+ / SSASGD specific space where young people can 

meet with friends after school in a safe, supervised and supportive 

environment.                                                  

Clarification may need to be sought to determine if this submission is for service provision or additional 

space.

Mondo Lounge already promotes itself as a space that is inclusive and safe for LGBTIQ+ young people with 

a number of current and regular participants defining themselves as LGBTIQ+. Additional support to 

LGBTIQ+ youth may be provided via the council officer's 2019/2020 budget submission for an Access, 

Inclusion and Diversity Officer however the proposed position is only 0.4 EFT therefore capacity may be 

limited.

Council previously applied for a State Government HEY grant in 2017 to work with local LGBTIQ+ young 

people, organisations and service providers to develop resources, services and workshops to encourage a 

greater support, understanding and awareness of LGBTIQ+ diversity and inclusion within the community. 

The application was unsuccessful. 

8 Allison Nye No DOC/19/20207 15-May-2019

1. Council should reconsider their extra payment for the Victory Park 

childrens playground and put it to better use

2. Need improvements to services for animal management, parking 

infringements, littering and rubbish dumping

3. Economic Development - Little or no support given to existing 

businesses in Castlemaine CBD and the general cleanliness of CBD 

has been neglected

4. Heritage - little monies have been allocated to preserve heritage in 

Castlemaine and policies regarding signage should be extended to all 

businesses across Shire

1. The decision to proceed with the construction of Victory Park playspace has been informed by a rigorous 

community consultation process, procurement process and relevant Council plans and strategies.  

Councillors have endorsed the project.  It is believed that this playspace will become a fun and inclusive 

focal point for visitors to the Castlemaine CBD.

2. Council has an adopted and up to date Domestic Animal Management Plan that provides clear direction 

on its response to animal management issues in the Shire. The Community Safety and Amenity team is 

implementing the Plan, and a key project in 2019-20 is exploring innovations in animal management and 

new controls for dogs and cats in public places. Council’s Local Laws are effective through to November 

2020, and a project is now underway to review all Laws, improve their functionality, and ensure they reflect 

the expectations of local residents.  Parking laws across the Castlemaine CBD are enforced by Local Law 

Officers. Staff have completed an audit of parking signage in the Castlemaine CBD, and a program to 

replace and update signs will enable better parking enforcement. 

3. Council's operational budget includes the provision for small business training workshops; Council has a 

maintenance program involving sweeping of roads and footpaths and graffiti clean-up on public property. 

The replacement of the seat in Barker Street is currently being planned. Ongoing concerns regarding the 

functionality of street bins should be provided via Customer Service.

4. Council’s Planning Scheme includes extensive State and Local Planning Policies that provide protection 

for Council’s built form and landscape heritage, and a detailed Heritage Overlay that protects specific places 

and precincts. The Planning Scheme also includes detailed provisions to regulate all signage across the 

Shire, including signage in heritage areas. Enforcement of the Planning Scheme is overseen by a dedicated 

Compliance Officer.  Staff are currently undertaking a comprehensive review of its planning policies and the 

overall performance of its Planning Scheme. The review will be made public in 2019, and following 

submissions Council will be asked to determine a work program for Planning reform projects. 
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8 Allison Nye No DOC/19/20207 15-May-2019

5. Social Welfare - funds should be allocated to educate and assist in 

preventing family violence

6. Housing - Council should consider bringing in taxes on 2nd homes, 

land banking and demolition by neglect

7. Not for profits - all operating groups should be brought into even 

usage agreements

8. Tourism - is this getting good value for the cost?

9. The shire needs a new purpose built library or the library should be 

moved into the building occupied by BRIT

5. Additional support to gender equality/prevention of family violence may be provided via the 2019/2020 

proposed budget for an Access, Inclusion and Diversity Officer; however the proposed position is only 0.4 

EFT therefore capacity may be limited. Officers will continue to apply for grants as they become available to 

support any future gender equality/prevention of family violence initiatives. Officers are currently involved in a 

number of local and regional networks and steering groups that focus on gender equality/prevention of 

family violence and this will continue regardless of additional funds being available. 

6. The State Government will soon commence its review into the local government rating system and how it 

may be made more equitable, more efficient and more progressive. The review will conclude in March 2020 

and the outcomes of this report, along with a review of Council's Rating Strategy in 2020/2021, will provide 

guidance on Council's future rating framework.

7. Lease and licence rental is determined by Council’s Property Leasing and Licensing Policy which also 

states a preference for Council to enter licence agreements rather than leases. This is to ensure Council 

facilities are used to their greatest potential and maximizes access to, and the use of, community facilities by 

allowing multiple licences for one property. All $1 leases are a legacy from pre-amalgamation.  These will 

end 2024 and 2025, and it would be expected that at this time arrangements for those groups will be brought 

into line with Council’s Property Leasing and Licensing Policy. 

8. Comments are noted

9. It is recognized that the library enjoys high patronage and offers a wide range of services.  The proposed 

budget provides for works to strengthen the existing library floor and implement a flexible shelving system.  

These works will allow the library to become more adaptable to suit evolving demands.

8 Allison Nye No DOC/19/20207 15-May-2019

10. When will Council off load their excess land, buildings and furniture?

11. Suggests that Council should employ a plumber rather than use high 

cost contractors

12. Suggests that the State Festival is not successful for most traders 

and it is time to review the amount contributed to this event

10. Officers do investigate options to consolidate land and buildings and have tools to complete such 

analysis.  Two current ongoing disposals are land at Wesley Hill Business Park and the Chewton Community 

Centre.  Much of the land that Council manages is land that is owned by DELWP.

11. External contractors are currently meeting the demand for plumbing and other trade services; the use of 

external contractors will continue to be reviewed to ensure that Council is receiving best value for money

12. Castlemaine State Festival are required to report on a number of performance targets and measures as 

part of their funding agreement with Council. Council will review the report on the 2019 Festival as part of 

their process to establish future funding agreements.

9 Dr Norma Gray Yes DOC/19/20219 15-May-2019

Suggests that $100,000 be allocated to clean up the Forest Creek 

Channel, thereby enabling the built up silt and vegetation to be placed at 

the defunct landfill to assist in the regeneration of the area.  A five page 

petition has been enclosed.

Staff are investigating this suggestion and have had preliminary discussions with the land owner / manager, 

Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning. Staff will continue investigations to ensure full 

understanding of implications is understood, including ongoing maintenance costs, heritage preservation, 

environmental impacts. Staff will also liaise with relevant Landcare groups on this proposal.

10

Friends of 

Campbells 

Creek 

Landcare 

Group

Yes DOC/19/20222 15-May-2019

The group strongly endorses the draft budget, in particular the 

completion of the Campbells Creek Trail, review of the Walking and 

Cycling Strategy, works to implement the Flood Management Plan and 

managing rural roadside weeds. The group looks forward to working 

collaboratively with Council on these initiatives.

We welcome the ongoing support of the group and look forward to engaging with them when implementing 

the 2019/2020 budget.

11

Castlemaine 

Community 

House

Yes DOC/19/20319 17-May-2019

Requests that their budget allocation for running the Mount Alexander 

Seniors Festival be increased from $4,000 to $6,000 to cover their 

costs.

The Director Corporate and Community Services, Manager Community Wellbeing and Healthy Ageing 

Officer met with staff from Castlemaine Community House to discuss progress of the 2019 Seniors Festival 

on 12 February 2019.  Discussions noted that the grant funding of $4,000 did not match the expenditure over 

recent years, and that this needed to be increased.   Agreement made between MASC and CCH for a MoU 

to be drafted that noted support to be provided;  this included a commitment from MASC to provide 

additional funding for the Seniors Festival above the grant allocation to $6,000.  The draft MoU has been 

collated and discussed with Manager CCH.  The additional financial contribution (additional $2,000) is 

planned to be included within the MoU.  

Page 3 of 4



No. Name

Request 

to be 

heard

HRPM Ref.
Acknowledgement 

Sent
Summary Officer Comment

MOUNT ALEXANDER SHIRE COUNCIL - PUBLIC BUDGET SUBMISSIONS 2019/2020

12
CycleSafe Mt 

Alexander
Yes DOC/19/20378 17-May-2019

The group supports the review of the Walking and Cycling Strategy and 

the completion of the Campbells Creek Trail, but is concerned about the 

commitment to the Trail if government funding is not obtained. Would 

also like to see expenditure on cycling infrastructure reported separately 

from footpath works and requests that a dedicated and funded Cycling 

Strategy be formulated. The group also recommends that where 

footpath works are proposed, cycling infrastructure and connectivity 

must also be considered to ensure that bikes can be used rather than 

cars.

The review of Council's Walking/Cycling strategy is an identified priority in the draft budget. The grouping of 

walking and cycling is supported due to the shared nature of much of the infrastructure required for these 

activities, and the common aims of both activities in allowing people to be more active and healthy, and 

provide alternative transport options to vehicles. Council has many strategies to address a range of issues 

across the Shire, and aims to deliver on them as resources are available. The completion of the 'missing link' 

for the Campbells Creek trail is fully dependant on receipt of external funding.
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2019/2020 Proposed Fees and Charges Schedule

Statutory or 

Discretionary
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Financial Services

General Fees

Land Information Certificate Statutory 27.00 26.40 2.3%

CVPCP administration charge - per month Discretionary 75.00 75.00 0.0%

DHS administration charge Discretionary 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.0%

Dishonoured Cheque Administration fee Discretionary 26.00 25.00 4.0%

Dishonoured Direct Debit Administration fee Discretionary 26.00 25.00 4.0%

Rate Enquiries/ Rate Book Search Discretionary 52.00 50.00 4.0%

VicRoads Agency Return - per return Discretionary 112.75 110.00 2.5%

Communications and Customer Services

Venue Coordination

Market Building - Community Rate

Aisle - community rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 103.00 100.00 3.0%

Aisle - community rate - week Discretionary 154.00 150.00 2.7%

Aisle - community rate - month Discretionary 410.00 400.00 2.5%

Nave - community rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 154.00 150.00 2.7%

Nave - community rate - week Discretionary 308.00 300.00 2.7%

Nave - community rate - month Discretionary 820.00 800.00 2.5%

Market Building - Private Rate

Aisle - private rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 128.00 125.00 2.4%

Aisle - private rate - week Discretionary 195.00 190.00 2.6%

Aisle - private rate - month Discretionary 513.00 500.00 2.6%

Nave - private rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 195.00 190.00 2.6%

Nave - private rate - week Discretionary 384.00 375.00 2.4%

Nave - private rate - month Discretionary 1,025.00 1,000.00 2.5%

Small Venues Hire Fees - Community Rate

Castlemaine Senior Citizens Centre - Community per hr Discretionary 27.00 26.00 3.8%

Castlemaine Senior Citizens Centre - Community per day Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Chewton Senior Citizens Centre - Community per hr Discretionary 27.00 26.00 3.8%

Chewton Senior Citizens Centre - Community per day Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Former Tea Room - Community per hr Discretionary 27.00 26.00 3.8%

Former Tea Room - Community per day Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Ray Bradfield Room - Community per hr Discretionary 27.00 26.00 3.8%

Ray Bradfield Room - Community per day Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Small Venues Hire Fees - Private Rate

Castlemaine Senior Citizens Centre - Private per hr Discretionary 42.00 41.00 2.4%

Castlemaine Senior Citizens Centre - Private per day Discretionary 168.00 164.00 2.4%

Chewton Senior Citizens Centre - Private per hr Discretionary 42.00 41.00 2.4%

Chewton Senior Citizens Centre - Private per day Discretionary 168.00 164.00 2.4%

Former Tea Room - Private per hr Discretionary 42.00 41.00 2.4%

Former Tea Room - Private per day Discretionary 168.00 164.00 2.4%

Ray Bradfield Room - Private per hr Discretionary 42.00 41.00 2.4%

Ray Bradfield - Private per day Discretionary 168.00 164.00 2.4%

Phee Broadway Theatre Venue Hire Fees - All Users

Supervising Technician - additional hours (std) - per hr Discretionary 53.00 52.00 1.9%

Supervising Technician - additional hours (M-F AH) - per hr Discretionary 69.00 67.00 3.0%

Supervising Technician - additional hours (Sat after 3 hrs and Sun) - per hr Discretionary 89.00 87.00 2.3%

Supervising Technician - additional hours (PH) - per hr Discretionary 89.00 87.00 2.3%

Phee Broadway Theatre Venue Hire Fees - Community Rate

Theatre General use - Community Rate  - Category C - per day Discretionary 246.00 240.00 2.5%

Theatre Performance - Community Rate  - Category B - per day Discretionary 133.00 130.00 2.3%

Theatre use for 4 hours - includes Supervising Technician - Community Rate Category A Discretionary 446.00 435.00 2.5%

Theatre use for 4 hours - includes Supervising Technician - Community Rate - Category B Discretionary 446.00 435.00 2.5%

Theatre use for 8 hours - includes Supervising Technician - Community Rate Category A Discretionary 656.00 640.00 2.5%

Theatre use for 8 hours - includes Supervising Technician - Community Rate - Category B Discretionary 656.00 640.00 2.5%

Theatre use after 8 hours  per hr - includes Supervising Technician - Community rate Category B Discretionary 51.00 50.00 2.0%

Phee Broadway Theatre Venue Hire Fees - Private Rate

Theatre use for 4 hours - includes Supervising Technician - Private Rate Category A Discretionary 687.00 670.00 2.5%

Theatre use for 8 hours - includes Supervising Technician - Private Rate Category A Discretionary 897.00 875.00 2.5%

Theatre use after 8 hours per hr - includes Supervising Technician - Private rate Category A Discretionary 51.00 50.00 2.0%

Town Hall Equipment Hire Fees

Beige Plastic Chairs  - use offsite with transport by hirer - per table/day or weekend Discretionary 3.00 3.00 0.0%

Cleaning Staff for set up or pack down of events - per hr Discretionary 69.00 67.00 3.0%

Grand Piano - Town Hall or Phee Theatre only - daily Discretionary 256.00 250.00 2.4%

Grand Piano Removalist Fee - for use on Town Hall main floor or Phee (one off) Discretionary 1,128.00 1,100.00 2.5%

Portable public address system - daily or weekend Discretionary 47.00 46.00 2.2%

Portable stage – hire of 6 sections - daily Discretionary 131.00 128.00 2.3%

Portable stage - per section in Town Hall or Phee - daily Discretionary 27.00 26.00 3.8%

Portable stage - set up & dismantle in Town Hall or Phee (once off - excludes hire fee) - daily Discretionary 136.00 133.00 2.3%

Trestle Tables - use offsite with transport by hirer - per table/day or weekend Discretionary 6.00 6.00 0.0%

Town Hall Venue Hire Fees - Community Rate

Hall, stage & foyer - with stage lights, includes PA & Balcony if required - community rate - half day/4 hr Discretionary 158.00 154.00 2.6%

Hall, stage & foyer - with stage lights, includes PA & Balcony if required - community rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 315.00 307.00 2.6%

Hall, stage & foyer- no stage lights, includes PA & Balcony if required - community rate - half day/4 hr Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Hall, stage & foyer- no stage lights, includes PA & Balcony if required - community rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 210.00 205.00 2.4%
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Kitchen  - half day/4 hr community rate Discretionary 53.00 52.00 1.9%

Kitchen - daily/8 hr community rate Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Town Hall Venue Hire Fees - Private Rate

Hall, stage & foyer - with stage lights - private rate - half daily 4 hr Discretionary 394.00 384.00 2.6%

Hall, stage & foyer - with stage lights - private rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 786.00 767.00 2.5%

Hall, stage & foyer- no stage lights - private rate - half daily 4 hr Discretionary 341.00 333.00 2.4%

Hall, stage & foyer- no stage lights - private rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 682.00 665.00 2.6%

Kitchen - private rate - half daily 4 hr Discretionary 79.00 77.00 2.6%

Kitchen - private rate - daily/8 hr Discretionary 158.00 154.00 2.6%

Outdoor Venue Hire Fees - All Users

Outdoor venue use for event - over 50 people Discretionary 220.00 215.00 2.3%

Venue Hire Bonds - All Users

Town Hall, Phee Broadway Theatre or Market Building- alcohol bond - per hire Discretionary 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.0%

Town Hall, Phee Broadway Theatre or Market Building- non alcohol bond - per hire Discretionary 500.00 500.00 0.0%

Outdoor venue bond for event 50-100 people Discretionary 500.00 500.00 0.0%

Outdoor venue bond for event 100-500 people Discretionary 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.0%

Community Partnerships

Emergency Management

Fire Management Fees

Administration and Reinspection Fee Discretionary 179.00 179.00 0.0%

Permit to Burn - during fire danger period Discretionary 168.00 168.00 0.0%

Community Places and Spaces

Active Communities - Facilities

Swimming Pool Admissions

Swimming Pool - Adult Discretionary 5.00 5.00 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Adult - concession card holder Discretionary 4.00 4.00 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Child Discretionary 3.50 3.50 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Child Season Ticket Discretionary 48.00 0.00 new

Swimming Pool - Family day Discretionary 13.20 13.20 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Family season ticket Discretionary 157.00 157.00 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Family season ticket - concession card Discretionary 132.00 132.00 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Single season ticket Discretionary 71.00 71.00 0.0%

Swimming Pool - Single season ticket - concession card Discretionary 58.00 58.00 0.0%

Community Wellbeing

Community Services - Brokerage

Brokerage - Delivered meals (weekday 7.30 am to 7.30 pm) - per meal Discretionary 25.30 24.70 2.4%

Brokerage - Footcare Program Podiatry Kit Discretionary 43.00 36.00 19.4%

Brokerage - Home care (weekday 7.30 am to 7.30 pm) - per hr Discretionary 57.75 56.35 2.5%

Brokerage - Home care (weekends / public holidays) - per hr Discretionary 99.60 97.15 2.5%

Brokerage - Personal care (weekday 7.30 am to 7.30 pm) - per hr Discretionary 61.10 59.60 2.5%

Brokerage - Personal care (weekends / public holidays) - per hr Discretionary 102.95 102.25 0.7%

Brokerage - Planned activity group (weekday 7.30 am to 7.30 pm) - per wk Discretionary 25.30 24.70 2.4%

Brokerage - Property Maintenance (weekday 7.30 am to 7.30 pm) - per hr Discretionary 75.95 74.10 2.5%

Brokerage - Respite care (weekday 7.30 am to 7.30 pm) - per hr Discretionary 61.10 59.60 2.5%

Brokerage - Respite care (weekends / public holidays) - per hr Discretionary 104.80 102.25 2.5%

Brokerage - Travel  - per km Discretionary 1.15 1.10 4.5%

Community Services - CHSP

Bus hire community transport - per km Discretionary 3.35 3.25 3.1%

Delivered meals - Low income - per meal Discretionary 10.75 10.50 2.4%

Delivered meals - Medium income - per meal Discretionary 14.35 13.95 2.9%

Delivered meals - High income - per meal Discretionary 25.30 24.70 2.4%

Flexible respite care - Low income - per hr Discretionary 3.80 3.70 2.7%

Flexible respite care - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 15.00 14.65 2.4%

Flexible respite care - High income - per hr Discretionary 61.60 60.10 2.5%

Footcare Program Podiatry Kit Discretionary 43.00 36.00 19.4%

Group social support - Low income - per activity Discretionary 14.30 13.95 2.5%

Group social support - Medium income - per activity Discretionary 14.30 13.95 2.5%

Group social support - High income - per activity Discretionary 25.30 24.70 2.4%

Home Care - Low Income - per hr Discretionary 7.30 7.10 2.8%

Home care - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 18.45 18.00 2.5%

Home care - High income (M-F) - per hr Discretionary 57.75 56.35 2.5%

Home maintenance or modifications - Low income - per hr Discretionary 13.80 13.45 2.6%

Home maintenance or modifications - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 24.20 23.60 2.5%

Home maintenance or modifications - High income - per hr Discretionary 77.05 75.15 2.5%

Individual social support - Low income - per activity (from) Discretionary 7.30 7.10 2.8%

Individual social support - Medium income - per activity (from) Discretionary 18.45 18.00 2.5%

Individual social support - High income - per activity (from) Discretionary 57.75 56.35 2.5%

Personal care - Low income - per hr Discretionary 5.60 5.45 2.8%

Personal care - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 16.20 15.80 2.5%

Personal care - High income (M-F) - per hr Discretionary 61.60 60.10 2.5%

Community Services - HACC

Delivered meals - Low income - per meal Discretionary 10.75 10.50 2.4%

Delivered meals - Medium income - per meal Discretionary 14.35 13.95 2.9%

Delivered meals - High income - per meal Discretionary 25.30 24.70 2.4%
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Footcare Program Podiatry Kit Discretionary 43.00 36.00 19.4%

Home care - Low income - per hr Discretionary 7.30 7.10 2.8%

Home care - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 18.45 18.00 2.5%

Home care - High income (M-F) - per hr Discretionary 57.75 56.35 2.5%

Personal care - Low income - per hr Discretionary 5.60 5.45 2.8%

Personal care - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 16.20 15.80 2.5%

Personal care - High income (M-F) - per hr Discretionary 61.60 60.10 2.5%

Planned Activity Group - Low income - per hr Discretionary 14.30 13.95 2.5%

Planned Activity Group - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 14.30 13.95 2.5%

Planned Activity Group - High income - per hr Discretionary 25.30 24.70 2.4%

Planned Activity Group - Transport - per hr Discretionary 3.35 3.25 3.1%

Property maintenance - Low income - per hr Discretionary 13.80 13.45 2.6%

Property maintenance - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 24.20 23.60 2.5%

Property maintenance - High income - per hr Discretionary 77.05 75.15 2.5%

Respite care - Low income - per hr Discretionary 3.80 3.70 2.7%

Respite care - Medium income - per hr Discretionary 15.00 14.65 2.4%

Respite care - High income (M-F) - per hr Discretionary 61.60 60.10 2.5%

Community Services - Other

Bus hire community groups only - per km Discretionary 0.90 0.90 0.0%

Community Services - Veterans

Veterans Home Care - per hr Statutory 5.00 5.00 0.0%

Veterans Personal Care - per hr Statutory 5.00 5.00 0.0%

Veterans Property Maintenance - per hr Statutory 5.00 5.00 0.0%

Veterans Respite Care - no charge to customer Statutory 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Development Services

Building Services

Building Permit Fees

Building Commission Levy for building works  > $10,000 = 0.128% or $1.28 per $1,000 statutory Statutory 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Building information certificates Statutory 52.10 52.10 0.0%

Building permits - private lodgement Statutory 118.90 118.90 0.0%

Rectification of illegal works - As per new works structure Statutory 0.00 0.00 new

Report & Consent - Consent under Part 5, 6, 10 of the Regulations - statutory Statutory 262.10 262.10 0.0%

Report & Consent - Consent under Part 7 of the Regulations - statutory Statutory 287.50 0.00 new

Report & Consent - Consent under Section 29A of the Act (Demolition) - Form A Statutory 65.10 65.10 0.0%

Amendment to permit only Discretionary 210.00 205.00 2.4%

Change of use - class 10A to class 1A Discretionary 965.00 941.00 2.6%

Change of use - class 1A to class 1B Discretionary 912.00 890.00 2.5%

Change of use - class 2 to 9 buildings Discretionary 1,613.00 1,574.00 2.5%

Class 1 - Alterations & additions (50k to 150k) Discretionary 1,933.00 1,886.00 2.5%

Class 1 - Alterations & additions (up to 50k) Discretionary 1,719.00 1,677.00 2.5%

Class 1 - Dwellings, relocation of dwellings, and units (per individual unit), additions and alterations Discretionary 2,253.00 2,198.00 2.5%

Class 1 - Restumping and underpinning Discretionary 870.00 849.00 2.5%

Class 10 - Fences, masts & miscellaneous structures Discretionary 677.00 660.00 2.6%

Class 10 - Outbuildings, garages, sheds Discretionary 912.00 890.00 2.5%

Class 10 - Swimming Pools Discretionary 744.00 726.00 2.5%

Commercial building works > $5,000 to $50,000 Discretionary 1,711.00 0.00 new

Commercial building works > $50,000 to $150,000 Discretionary 1,924.00 0.00 new

Commercial building works > $150,000 Discretionary 2,242.00 0.00 new

Demolition/removal permit - class 1 to 10 Discretionary 682.00 665.00 2.6%

Demolition/removal permit - class 2 to 9 buildings Discretionary 1,017.00 992.00 2.5%

Extension of building permit  1 year maximum Discretionary 273.00 266.00 2.6%

Hourly rate - Administration Staff Discretionary 104.00 101.00 3.0%

Hourly rate - Building Inspector Discretionary 148.00 144.00 2.8%

Hourly rate - Building Surveyor Discretionary 210.00 169.00 24.3%

Hourly rate - Municipal Building Surveyor Discretionary 226.00 220.00 2.7%

Inspection on works when building permit has lapsed or expired Discretionary 210.00 205.00 2.4%

Miscellaneous permits - occupation permits for places of public entertainment in a building Discretionary 665.00 665.00 0.0%

Miscellaneous permits - occupation permits for places of public entertainment in an open area Discretionary 682.00 665.00 2.6%

Miscellaneous permits - siting of temporary structures Discretionary 362.00 353.00 2.5%

Request for copying of permits and plans Discretionary 85.00 83.00 2.4%

Special services - assistance for applications to Building Appeals Board - per hour Discretionary 200.00 200.00 0.0%

Special services - renewal of expired building permits Discretionary 483.00 471.00 2.5%

Variation to approved documents - minor works under $5,000 Discretionary 210.00 205.00 2.4%

Variation to approved documents - works over $5,000 Discretionary 367.00 358.00 2.5%

Community Safety and Amenity

Infringements

Animal fines - 1.5 Penalty units * Statutory 248.00 242.00 2.5%

Animal fines - 2.0 Penalty units* Statutory 330.00 322.00 2.5%

Local Laws fines  - 2.0 penalty units** Statutory 200.00 200.00 0.0%

Planning Compliance Fines - 5.0 Penalty units* Statutory 826.00 806.00 2.5%

*1.0 penalty Unit = $165.22 for 2019/2020 Monetary Units Act

**1.0 penalty Unit = $100.00 for 2019/2020 s110 Sentencing Act

Parking Fines

Parking fines - 0.6 Penalty unit statutory* Statutory 99.00 97.00 2.1%

Parking fines - 1.0 Penalty unit statutory* Statutory 165.00 161.00 2.5%

RR168(1)(a) – In a "no parking" area  - 0.5 penalty unit* Statutory 83.00 76.00 9.2%
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RR205 – Parking for a period longer than indicated  - 0.5 penalty unit* Statutory 83.00 76.00 9.2%

RR209(2) – Contrary to the requirement of the parking area  - 0.5 penalty unit* Statutory 83.00 76.00 9.2%

RR211(2) – Not completely within a parking bay  - 0.5 penalty unit* Statutory 83.00 76.00 9.2%

*1.0 penalty Unit = $165.22 for 2019/2020 Monetary Units Act

State Government Animal Levy 

State Government Domestic Animal Business (DAB) registration levy per DAB Statutory 20.00 0.00 0.0%

Domestic Animal Registrations

Animal registration - Cats - foster care fee initial rego Statutory 4.00 0.00 new

Animal registration - Dogs - foster care fee initial rego Statutory 4.00 0.00 new

Animal registration - Cats - full fee Discretionary 141.00 138.00 2.2%

Animal registration - Cats - full fee Pensioner Discretionary 71.00 69.00 2.9%

Animal registration - Cats - reduced fee Discretionary 47.00 46.00 2.2%

Animal registration - Cats - reduced fee pensioner Discretionary 24.00 23.00 4.3%

Animal registration - Dogs - full fee Discretionary 141.00 138.00 2.2%

Animal registration - Dogs - full fee Pensioner Discretionary 71.00 69.00 2.9%

Animal registration - Dogs - reduced Fee Discretionary 47.00 46.00 2.2%

Animal registration - Dogs - reduced fee pensioner Discretionary 24.00 23.00 4.3%

Animal business registration compliance inspection Discretionary 100.00 0.00 new

Declared dogs - property inspection fee for dangerous and restricted breed Discretionary 60.00 0.00 new

Domestic Animal Business (DAB) registration Discretionary 250.00 271.00 (7.7%)

Pound - Domestic Animal Release Fees

Pound fees - dog from 3 days per day Discretionary 25.00 0.00 new

Pound fees - cat from 3 days per day Discretionary 20.00 0.00 new

Pound - Impounding of Livestock (Payable upon release)

Impounding - Sustenance fee large animals (per day) Discretionary 13.00 12.50 4.0%

Impounding - Sustenance fee small or medium animals (per day) Discretionary 5.00 5.00 0.0%

Impounding - Transport costs (external provider) 100% cost recovery Discretionary 0.00 0.00 new

Impounding - Transport costs (vehicle and float) per km Discretionary 2.00 1.61 24.2%

Impounding - Transport costs (vehicle and stock trailer) per km Discretionary 2.00 1.61 24.2%

Impounding - Transport costs (vehicle only) per km Discretionary 1.00 0.80 25.0%

Impounding fee small animals (per animal) (per day) rabbits/poultry Discretionary 1.00 2.30 (56.5%)

Impounding fee medium animals (per animal) (per day) sheep/goats Discretionary 2.50 0.00 new

Impounding fee large animals (per animal) (per day) Discretionary 5.00 4.10 22.0%

Officer time to attend and impound animals - Business Hours Discretionary 50.00 80.00 (37.5%)

Officer time to attend and impound animals - After Hours Discretionary 85.00 80.00 6.3%

Pound - Miscellaneous Fees

Compulsory animal micro chipping Discretionary 58.00 57.00 1.8%

Seized animals - pound accommodation Discretionary 52.00 52.00 0.0%

Miscellaneous Fees

Impounded sundry item reclaim per item Discretionary 158.00 154.00 2.6%

Impounded vehicle reclaim - per vehicle Discretionary 200.00 0.00 new

Permit initial application fee for permit requiring officer inspection Discretionary 80.00 0.00 new

Permit initial application fee for renewable permit Discretionary 40.00 0.00 new

Resident parking permit Discretionary 50.00 87.00 (42.5%)

Replacement Disabled Parking Permit fee if  lost or unduly damaged Discretionary 20.00 0.00 new

Failure to comply with Notice to Comply administrative fee - minor works Discretionary 25.00 0.00 0.0%

Failure to comply with Notice to Comply administrative fee - major works Discretionary 100.00 0.00 0.0%

Animal trap hire Discretionary 10.50 11.00 (4.5%)

Animal trap hire (Bond) Discretionary 21.00 21.00 0.0%

Local Law 2 Roads and Council Land

LL2 - Application for parking to carry out works (Clause 20(1)) per parking bay per day Discretionary 30.00 46.00 (34.8%)

LL2 - Application for parking to carry out works (Clause 20(1)) per parking bay per week Discretionary 140.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application for parking to carry out works (Clause 20(1)) per parking bay per month Discretionary 280.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application Skip/Bin permit (Clause 10 (1)) 7 days Discretionary 47.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application Skip/Bin permit (Clause 10 (1)) annual fee Discretionary 400.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application to busk on a road or Council land (Clause 18(1)) Discretionary 0.00 38.00 (100.0%)

LL2 - Application to conduct works on a Council asset or Council land (Clause 10(1)) per day Discretionary 87.00 87.00 0.0%

LL2 - Application to erect a hoarding on a road or Council land. (Clause 19 (2)) per week Discretionary 120.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application to erect a hoarding on a road or Council land. (Clause 19 (2)) 2 weeks Discretionary 200.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application to erect a hoarding on a road or Council land. (Clause 19 (2)) per month Discretionary 320.00 0.00 new

LL2 - Application to erect a sign on a road or Council land. (Clause 19 (2)) Discretionary 64.00 62.00 3.2%

LL2 - Application to remove a tree, vegetation or timber from a road or Council land.  (Clause 19 (1 Discretionary 210.00 205.00 2.4%

Local Law 3 Environment

LL3 - Application for a temporary dwelling (Clause 8(1)) Discretionary 262.00 256.00 2.3%

LL3 - Application to camp on Council land, public land and private land (Clause 7(1)) per day Discretionary 25.00 46.00 (45.7%)

LL3 - Application to camp on Council land, public land and private land (Clause 7(1)) per week Discretionary 75.00 0.00 new

LL3 - Application to camp on Council land, public land and private land (Clause 7(1)) per month Discretionary 150.00 0.00 new

LL3 - Application to light an incinerator or fire in the open (Clause 9 (1)) Discretionary 79.00 77.00 2.6%

LL3 -Application to place a commercial or industrial waste or recycling receptacle on a road or foot Discretionary 79.00 77.00 2.6%

Local Law 4 Animals

LL4 - Application for roadside grazing of livestock (Clause 7 (1)) Discretionary 158.00 154.00 2.6%

LL4 - Application to drove livestock (Clause 8(1)) Discretionary 158.00 154.00 2.6%

LL4 - Application to keep excess animals (Clause 11(a)) Discretionary 50.00 77.00 (35.1%)

Local Law 5 Trading

LL5 - Application for advertising signs / flags / banners (Clause 7(1)) Discretionary 50.00 77.00 (35.1%)

LL5 - Application for display of goods (Clause 8(1)) Discretionary 100.00 80.00 25.0%

LL5 - Application for itinerant trading (Clause 10(1)) per day Discretionary 64.00 62.00 3.2%
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LL5 - Application for itinerant trading (Clause 10(1)) annual fee Discretionary 472.00 460.00 2.6%

LL5 - Application for Outdoor eating (Clause 9(1)) per other street furniture Discretionary 2.00 0.00 new

LL5 - Application for Outdoor eating (Clause 9(1)) per seat licenced premises Discretionary 27.00 0.00 new

LL5 - Application for Outdoor eating (Clause 9(1)) per seat non licenced premises Discretionary 20.00 26.00 (23.1%)

LL5 - Application for Outdoor eating (Clause 9(1)) per table Discretionary 5.00 0.00 new

LL5 - Real Estate Agency directional sign (per franchise) annual fee Discretionary 200.00 0.00 new

Local Laws 6 Fundraising & Events

LL6 - Application for event related road closures (Clause 8 (1)) Discretionary 262.00 256.00 2.3%

LL6 - Application to collect money, gifts or subscriptions (Clause 9(1)). Discretionary 64.00 62.00 3.2%

LL6 - Application to conduct fundraising activities (Clause 10(1)) Discretionary 64.00 62.00 3.2%

LL6 - Application for placement of advertising signage on Council roads or land (Clause 7(1)) Discretionary 64.00 62.00 3.2%

Environmental Health

Accommodation Registrations

Accommodation registration transfer fee - per premises Discretionary 177.00 164.00 7.9%

General accommodation registration - per premises Discretionary 205.00 200.00 2.5%

New accommodation premises application fee Discretionary 168.00 164.00 2.4%

Prescribed accommodation (rooming house) registration - per premises Discretionary 205.00 200.00 2.5%

Health Registrations

Tobacco fines - statutory Statutory 0.00 0.00 0.0%

New health premises application fee (in addition to initial registration fee) Discretionary 168.00 164.00 2.4%

Health registration transfer fee - per premises Discretionary 177.00 164.00 7.9%

Special request for inspection health registration - per inspection Discretionary 200.00 195.00 2.6%

Hairdresser, beauty parlour, skin penetration or colonic irrigation health registration Discretionary 205.00 200.00 2.5%

Food Registrations

Class 1 food registration - per premises Discretionary 431.00 420.00 2.6%

Class 2A food registration - per premises Discretionary 860.00 839.00 2.5%

Class 2B food registration - per premises Discretionary 488.00 440.00 10.9%

Class 2C food registration - per premises Discretionary 226.00 220.00 2.7%

Class 2D food registration - per premises Discretionary 100.00 98.00 2.0%

Class 3A food registration - per premises Discretionary 294.00 287.00 2.4%

Class 3B food registration - per premises Discretionary 215.00 215.00 0.0%

Class 3C food registration - per premises Discretionary 100.00 98.00 2.0%

Food registration transfer fee - per premises Discretionary 178.00 174.00 2.3%

New food premises application fee (in addition to initial registration fee) Discretionary 271.00 205.00 32.2%

Food Stall Registrations (Class M-N ) 

Food stalls registration (Class 2 or 3) per event  (not-for-profit organisations only) Discretionary 52.00 52.00 0.0%

Special request for inspection - food stall registration - per inspection Discretionary 195.00 195.00 0.0%

Septic Tank Applications

Septic tank request for records - per request Discretionary 60.00 31.00 93.5%

Septic tank permit extension fee or amendment to existing permit - per extension Discretionary 180.00 154.00 16.9%

Special request for inspection - septic tank registration - per inspection Discretionary 210.00 205.00 2.4%

Septic tank applications - alteration minor - per alteration Discretionary 249.00 215.00 15.8%

Septic tank applications - new or major alteration - per application Discretionary 545.00 532.00 2.4%

Immunisations

Immunisation request for records - per request Discretionary 32.00 31.00 3.2%

Statutory Planning

Planning Fees

Alteration of a certified plan of subdivision Statutory 108.40 108.40 0.0%

Amendment of a certified plan of subdivision Statutory 137.30 137.30 0.0%

Amend or end a Section 173 agreement Statutory 643.00 643.00 0.0%

Certificate of compliance Statutory 317.90 317.90 0.0%

Certify a plan of subdivision including issuing a statement of compliance Statutory 170.50 170.50 0.0%

Class 1 application for use of land only (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Class 2 application to change or allow a new use of the land (amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Class 2 - single dwelling permit applications - up to $10,000 (permit/amendment) Statutory 195.10 195.10 0.0%

Class 3 - single dwelling permit applications - $10,001 to $100,000 (permit/amendment) Statutory 614.10 614.10 0.0%

Class 4 - single dwelling permit applications - $100,001 to $500,000 (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,257.20 1,257.20 0.0%

Class 5 - single dwelling permit applications - $500,001 to $1 million (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,358.30 1,358.30 0.0%

Class 6 - single dwelling permit applications - $1 million to $2 million (permit) Statutory 1,459.50 1,459.50 0.0%

Class 6 - single dwelling permit applications - $1 million to $2 million (amendment) Statutory 1,358.30 1,358.30 0.0%

Class 7 - VicSmart permit applications - up to $10,000 (permit/amendment) Statutory 195.10 195.10 0.0%

Class 8 - VicSmart permit applications - more than $10,000 (permit/amendment) Statutory 419.10 419.10 0.0%

Class 9 - VicSmart application to subdivide or consolidate land (permit/amendment) Statutory 195.10 195.10 0.0%

Class 10 - VicSmart application other than a class 7, 8 or 9 (permit/amendment) Statutory 195.10 195.10 0.0%

Class 11 - all other developments - up to $100,000 (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,119.90 1,119.90 0.0%

Class 12 - all other developments - $100,001 to $1 million (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,510.00 1,510.00 0.0%

Class 13 - all other developments - $1 million to $5 million (permit/amendment) Statutory 3,330.70 3,330.70 0.0%

Class 14 - all other developments - $5 million to $15 million (permit) Statutory 8,489.40 8,489.40 0.0%

Class 14 - all other developments - $5 million to $15 million (amendment) Statutory 3,330.70 3,330.70 0.0%

Class 15 - all other developments - $15 million to $50 million (permit) Statutory 25,034.60 25,034.60 0.0%

Class 15 - all other developments - $15 million to $50 million (amendment) Statutory 3,330.70 3,330.70 0.0%

Class 16 - all other developments - more than $50 million (permit) Statutory 56,268.30 56,268.30 0.0%

Class 16 - all other developments - more than $50 million (amendment) Statutory 3,330.70 3,330.70 0.0%

Class 17 - Subdivision of an existing building (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Class 18 - Subdivide land into 2 lots (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Class 19 - Realignment of common boundary or consolidate 2 or more lots (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Class 20 - Subdivision of building/land into >2 and <100  lots (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%
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2019/2020 Proposed Fees and Charges Schedule

Statutory or 

Discretionary

2019/2020 

proposed 

fee

2018/2019 

current 

fee

Proposed 

Increase %

Class 21 - create, vary or remove restriction, right of way, easement etc (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Class 22 - permit not otherwise provided listed (permit/amendment) Statutory 1,286.10 1,286.10 0.0%

Satisfaction matters Statutory 317.90 317.90 0.0%

Planning - Application for property information Discretionary 82.00 82.00 0.0%

Planning - Request for written planning advice (single property) Discretionary 84.00 82.00 2.4%

Planning - Request for written planning advice (multiple property requests, per property) Discretionary 102.00 0.00 new

Request for archive search for planning and building permits and plans (permit less than 7 years old Discretionary 85.00 83.00 2.4%

Request for archive search for planning and building permits and plans (permit older than 7 years) Discretionary 122.00 0.00 new

Planning - Amendment of endorsed plans (secondary consent) Discretionary 139.00 138.00 0.7%

Planning - Determination of existing use rights Discretionary 315.00 307.00 2.6%

Planning - Extension of time - first request Discretionary 367.00 358.00 2.5%

Planning - Extension of time - second request Discretionary 447.50 358.00 25.0%

Planning - Extension of time - third and subsequent requests Discretionary 537.00 514.00 4.5%

Advertising for planning permit application - public notification - administration fee Discretionary 20.00 10.20 96.1%

Advertising for planning permit application - public notification - per letter Discretionary 2.00 0.00 new

Advertising for planning permit application - site notice Discretionary 100.00 50.00 100.0%

Strategic Planning

Planning Fees

Stage 1 - Planning Scheme Amendments Statutory 2,976.70 2,976.70 0.0%

Stage 2 - Planning Scheme Amendments (1 to 10 submissions) Statutory 14,753.50 14,753.50 0.0%

Stage 2 - Planning Scheme Amendments (11 to 20 submissions) Statutory 29,478.00 29,478.00 0.0%

Stage 2 - Planning Scheme Amendments (more than 20 submissions) Statutory 39,405.20 39,405.20 0.0%

Stage 3 - Planning Scheme Amendments Statutory 469.60 469.60 0.0%

Stage 4 - Planning Scheme Amendments Statutory 469.60 469.60 0.0%

Regulation 7 - requesting Minister for planning scheme amendment Statutory 3,901.50 3,901.50 0.0%

Regulation 8 - requesting Minister for planning scheme amendment Statutory 939.30 939.30 0.0%

Private Proponent amendment - Notice letter by mail (to all parties) - statutory Discretionary 3.00 3.00 0.0%

Private Proponent amendment - Fee per notice in Government Gazette - statutory Discretionary 100.00 100.00 0.0%

Private Proponent amendment - Fee per notice in Newspaper - statutory Discretionary 205.00 205.00 0.0%

Administration fee to prepare hard copy(ies) and Council website for exhibition of private proponent Discretionary 140.00 140.00 0.0%

Infrastructure

Engineering Services

Infrastructure Fees

Stormwater Legal Point of Discharge  Issued under the Building Act 1993 Building Regulations 2006 Reg 610(2) Statutory 64.10 64.10 0.0%

Subdivision plan checking (0.75% est. cost of construction) and supervision fees (2.5% cost of construction) Statutory 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Asset Protection Permit Discretionary 189.00 184.00 2.7%

Asset Protection Permit - Bond Discretionary 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.0%

Infrastructure - Request for written information Discretionary 252.00 246.00 2.4%

Non-utility minor works within municipal road reserves (vehicle crossings) Discretionary 189.00 184.00 2.7%

Non-utility minor works within municipal road reserves (Planter Boxes and other structures) Discretionary 189.00 184.00 2.7%

Road Licencing - Basic Discretionary 53.00 52.00 1.9%

Road Licencing - Complex Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Road Licencing - Transfer Discretionary 106.00 103.00 2.9%

Urban Maintenance

Sale of Water

Water cost - per kilolitre Discretionary 3.60 3.55 1.4%

Water - Avdata key (new) Discretionary 35.00 34.00 2.9%

Water - Avdata Key (replacement) Discretionary 27.00 26.00 3.8%

Waste and Recycling

Landfill and Transfer Stations

General waste trailer (6' x 4') equivalent to 0.7 cubic metres Discretionary 45.00 44.00 2.3%

General waste - trailer (8' x 5') equivalent to 1.2 cubic metres Discretionary 78.00 76.00 2.6%

General waste-  trailer (6' x 4') heaped equivalent to 1.5 cubic metres Discretionary 98.50 96.00 2.6%

General waste - trailer  (8' x 5') heaped equivalent to 2.4 cubic metres Discretionary 157.00 153.00 2.6%

General waste per tonne Discretionary 185.00 180.00 2.8%

General waste per cubic tonne Discretionary 65.00 64.00 1.6%

General waste - commercial/industrial - per tonne Discretionary 206.00 201.00 2.5%

Asbestos (packaged domestic) - per cubic metre Discretionary 217.00 212.00 2.4%

Green Waste

Green Waste - Trailer (6' x 4') equivalent to ) 0.7 cubic metres Discretionary 15.50 15.00 3.3%

Green Waste - Trailer (6' x 4') heaped equivalent to 1.5 cubic metres Discretionary 33.00 32.00 3.1%

Green Waste - per cubic metre Discretionary 22.50 22.00 2.3%

Green waste (per tonne) Discretionary 43.00 42.00 2.4%

Tyres

Motor bike  and car tyres - per tyre Discretionary 10.50 10.00 5.0%

Motor bike and car tyres on rims - per tyre Discretionary 30.00 29.00 3.4%

Truck tyres - per tyre Discretionary 36.00 35.00 2.9%

Tractor tyres - per tyre Discretionary 75.00 73.00 2.7%

Other Items

Oil for recycling - per litre Discretionary 0.50 0.50 0.0%

Gas bottle (any size) - per item Discretionary 11.50 11.00 4.5%

Mattresses or bed bases (any size) - per item Discretionary 26.50 26.00 1.9%
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2019/2020 Proposed Fees and Charges Schedule

Statutory or 

Discretionary

2019/2020 

proposed 

fee

2018/2019 

current 

fee

Proposed 

Increase %

E-Waste

E-waste - Category 1 (per item) Extra Large/kg (solar panels, printer, large TV, fridge) Discretionary 20.50 20.00 2.5%

E-waste - Category 2 (per item) Large ea. (fridge, air con, plasma) Discretionary 10.50 10.00 5.0%

E-waste - Category 3 (per item) Medium ea. (computer, small TV) Discretionary 5.00 5.00 0.0%

E-waste - Category 4 (per item) Small ea. (mobile phone, mouse, electrical cords on toys, small computer parts) Discretionary 1.00 1.00 0.0%

Organisational Capability

Risk Management

Insurance

Permit insurance - Public Liability Insurance - (per permit) Discretionary 25.00 25.00 0.0%

Venue hire - Public Liability Insurance - per annum, per venue, max 52 visits (per venue) Discretionary 21.00 21.00 0.0%

**Statutory fees are subject to change by State Government**
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Executive Summary 
 

 
 

• Overall a positive year to date performance of a $5.39 million surplus, which is 
$2.60 million greater than the year to date budget.  

• Revenue exceeds budget with a variance of $2.54 million (9%), mainly due to: 
a) Unbudgeted grants received across the organisation of $931,070 and  
b) Flood and storm recovery reimbursements received of $800,160 

• Expenditure is comparable to budget with a variance of $53,318 (0%). 
• Capital works expenditure is below year to date budget by $4.33 million (41%) with 

30 June forecast at $11.78 million. Refer section h) for further details.  
 
 
 
 
 

  



 

 Page 3 of 16 

a) Income Statement – Council 

 
 
Reference notes (greater than $100,000 and 5%): 
 

1. Unbudgeted grants received for the following projects (expenditure has been increased 
to offset for these grants): 
a) Social housing $111,520; expect to carry forward a portion of this project to 

2019/2020 
b) Rating and valuations $32,838 to assist with the move to yearly valuations 
c) Municipal Fire Management Planning Committee Safer Together ($41,008) 
d) Chewton Soldiers Memorial Park lights ($153,360) 
e) Fixing Country Roads program funding on unsealed roads rehabilitation ($93,500) 
f) Earlier than expected receipt of Roads to Recovery funding on completion of works 

on the Muckleford Walmer Road ($375,000). 
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2. Other income is ahead of budget by $992,811 mainly due to  
a) The unbudgeted receipt of September 2016 flood recovery reimbursement 
($136,827) and insurance claims for damages to Council assets arising from flood and 
storm events ($663,333)  
b) Interest earned on investments is $114,908 greater than year to date budget  
 

3. Greater than expected planning fees have been received due to significant planning 
activity that has occurred in the shire ($175,597). 

 
4. Greater than expected monetary contributions received from open space levies 

($184,720) which are set aside in a specific reserve account. 
 

5. The year to date budget for employee costs had allowed two pay runs in March and 
three pay runs in May. The year to date actual employee costs were paid by three pay 
runs in March with two pay runs to be paid in May. This is a timing difference only. 

 
6. Payment of the quarterly contribution to the Goldfields Library was made earlier than 

expected ($125,173). 
 

b) Income Statement – Directorates 

ADOPTED CURRENT

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL VAR VAR Ref

2017/18 2018/2019 2018/2019 YTD YTD YTD YTD FORECAST

$,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's % $,000's

Income

5 - - Grants - operating - 14 (14) 0%  25

54 18 18 User fees 12 11 1 8%  16

69 12 12 Other income 9 4 4 52%  5

20 5 5 Statutory fees and fines 4 3 0 13%  3

9 - - Grants - capital - - - 0%  25

- 0 0 Internal charges 0 (0) 0 0%  (0)

156 35 35 Total Income 25 32 (8) -31% 73

Expenses

1,971 2,242 2,242 Employee costs 1,690 1,756 (66) -4%  2,285

818 678 678 Materials and services 593 583 10 2%  727

362 389 400 Other expenses 202 203 (0) 0%  380

128 155 155 Depreciation and amortisation 116 113 4 3%  155

3,278 3,464 3,475 Total Expenses 2,602 2,654 (53) -2% 3,547

(3,122) (3,429) (3,440) Net Surplus / (Deficit) (2,577) (2,622) 45 -2% (3,473)

Mount Alexander Shire Council

Executive

Budget review for the period ended March 2019

Income & Expenses
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Reference notes (greater than $100,000 and 5%): 
 

No material variances 

ADOPTED CURRENT

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL VAR VAR Ref

2017/18 2018/2019 2018/2019 YTD YTD YTD YTD FORECAST

$,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's % $,000's

Income

4,007 4,276 4,276 Rates and charges 4,276 4,290 (14) 0%  4,287

216 311 165 Other income 125 947 (822) -657% 1 966

2,054 1,092 1,060 Grants - operating 729 906 (176) -24% 2 1,123

4,605 2,118 1,948 Grants - capital 230 807 (577) -252% 2 1,709

1,104 911 911 Statutory fees and fines 549 800 (250) -46% 3 1,074

488 373 373 User fees 279 402 (123) -44% 4 542

251 70 70 Contributions - monetary 24 233 (209) -881% 5 274

292 - - Contributions - non monetary - - - 0%  -

192 - - Found assets - - - 0%  -

(147) 5 5 Internal charges 49 1 48 97%  3

13,062 9,156 8,808 Total Income 6,262 8,386 (2,124) -34% 9,978

Expenses

7,304 7,307 7,467 Depreciation and amortisation 5,606 5,569 37 1%  7,467

7,440 6,510 6,903 Materials and services 5,115 4,888 227 -2%  6,377

6,525 6,794 6,795 Employee costs 4,965 5,054 (89) 4%  7,331

490 496 496 Other expenses 326 353 (27) -8%  466

138 86 86 Borrowing costs 53 53 0 0%  86

- - - Bad and doubtful debts - 18 (18) 0%  18

- - -  - - - 0%  -

369 406 406 (Profit) / loss on disposal of assets (40) - (40) 100%  406

22,265 21,599 22,152 Total Expenses 16,024 15,935 89 1% 22,150

(9,203) (12,442) (13,344) Net Surplus / (Deficit) (9,763) (7,549) (2,213) 23% (12,172)

Mount Alexander Shire Council
Infrastructure and Development

Budget review for the period ended March 2019

Income & Expenses

 
 

Reference notes (greater than $100,000 and 5%): 
 

1. Other income is ahead of budget by $822,234 mainly due to the unbudgeted receipt of 
September 2016 flood recovery reimbursement ($136,827) and insurance claims for 
damages to Council assets arising from flood and storm events ($663,333). 
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2. Unbudgeted grants received for the following projects (expenditure has been increased 

to offset for these grants): 
a) Social housing $111,520 - expect to carry forward a portion of this project to 

2019/2020 
b) Chewton Soldiers Memorial Park lights ($153,360) 
c) Fixing Country Roads program funding on unsealed roads rehabilitation ($93,500) 
d) Earlier than expected receipt of Roads to Recovery funding on completion of works 

on the Muckleford Walmer Road ($375,000). 
 

3. Greater than expected planning fees have been received due to significant planning 
activity that has occurred in the shire ($175,597). 

 
4. Greater than expected receipt of user fees relating to stormwater legal point of 

discharge ($27,787), developer fees ($26,486) and receipts at the landfill ($56,898). 
 

5. Greater than expected monetary contributions received from open space levies 
($184,720) which are set aside in a specific reserve account. 
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ADOPTED CURRENT

ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL VAR VAR Ref

2017/18 2018/2019 2018/2019 YTD YTD YTD YTD FORECAST

$,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's % $,000's

Income

18,359 18,768 18,768 Rates and charges 18,769 18,898 (129) -1%  18,898

5,250 3,662 3,662 Grants - operating 2,808 2,930 (122) -4%  3,767

702 480 480 Other income 342 517 (175) -51% 1 625

624 630 630 User fees 463 414 49 11%  619

25 81 81 Statutory fees and fines 59 41 17 30%  71

- - - Grants - capital - 41 (41) 0%  41

2 - - Contributions - monetary - 2 (2) 0%  2

65 (1) (1) Share of net profit of associates - - - 0%  (1)

142 (5) (9) Internal charges (9) (1) (8) 89%  (0)

25,169 23,615 23,611 Total Income 22,432 22,842 (411) -2% 24,022

Expenses

5,655 5,598 5,592 Employee costs 4,094 4,193 (99) -2%  5,368

2,427 2,218 2,288 Materials and services 1,822 1,745 77 4%  2,305

911 1,058 1,058 Depreciation and amortisation 795 732 63 8%  1,058

669 686 700 Other expenses 447 577 (129) -29% 2 702

87 108 108 Borrowing costs 72 70 2 3%  108

32 6 6 Bad and doubtful debts 5 2 3 57%  5

46 79 79 (Profit) / loss on disposal of assets 59 (41) 100 168% 3 79

9,827 9,754 9,832 Total Expenses 7,295 7,278 17 0% 9,626

15,343 13,861 13,778 Net Surplus / (Deficit) 15,137 15,564 (427) -3% 14,396

Mount Alexander Shire Council
Corporate and Community Services

Budget review for the period ended March 2019

Income & Expenses

 
 
Reference notes (greater than $100,000 and 5%): 

 
1. Other income is ahead of budget ($175,063) due to interest earned on investments of 

$114,908 being greater than year to date budget. 
 

2. Payment of the quarterly contribution to the Goldfields Library was made earlier than 
expected ($125,173). 

 
3. Changeover of fleet is behind schedule but is planned to be achieved by 30 June.  
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c) Balance Sheet 
 
The Balance Sheet shows Council assets, liabilities and equity, including reserves, as at 
reporting date.  

Mount Alexander Shire Council
Balance Sheet

As at March 2019

Actual Actual Actual

June

2017/2018

March 

2018/2019

March 

2017/2018

Variance 

to prior 

year

Variance 

to prior 

year

$'000 Ref $'000 $'000 $'000 %

ASSETS

Current assets

2,394 Cash and cash equivalants  2,935  2,579  357  12%

2,547 Trade and other receivables 1  9,038  7,799  1,239  14%

16,250 Other financial assets 2  14,255  15,769  (1,514)  -11%

69 Inventories   84  147  (63)  -75%

186 Non-current assets classified as held for sale   186  186  -  0%

423 Other   127  203  (76)  -60%

21,869 Total current assets 26,626 26,683 (57) 0%

Non current assets

5 Trade and other receivables   5  5  (0)  -5%

646 Investments in associates   646  581  65  10%

339,279 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 3  339,188  307,495  31,692  9%

1,180 Intangible assets 3  1,067  561  506  47%

341,110 Total non current assets 340,906 308,643 32,263 9%

362,979 Total assets 367,532 335,326 32,206 9%

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

1,839 Trade and other payables 4  574  2,610  (2,036)  -355%

1,151 Trust funds and deposits   1,578  1,109  469  30%

476 Interest bearing loans and borrowings 141 212 (71) -50%

6,322 Provisions   6,383  6,256  126  2%

9,788 Total current liabilities 8,676 10,186 (1,511) -17%

Non current liabilities

3,926 Interest bearing loans and borrowings   3,926  4,322  (396)  -10%

2,051 Provisions 2,051 2,053 (2) 0%

5,977 Total non current liabilities 5,977 6,375 (398) -7%

15,765 Total liabilities 14,653 16,561 (1,909) -13%

347,214 NET ASSETS 352,879 318,764 34,115 10%

EQUITY

100,261 Retained earnings   103,512  107,119  (3,607)  -3%

3,022 Current year net earnings incl reserve transfers   11,912  5,946  5,965  50%

225,809 Revaluation reserves 3  225,809  194,448  31,360  14%

18,122 Other reserves   11,646  11,250  396  3%

347,214 Total equity 352,879 318,764 34,115 10%  



 

 Page 9 of 16 

Reference notes (greater than $500,000 and 5%): 
 
1. Increased receivables as a greater balance of rates is outstanding compared to the 

prior year, as well as an invoice raised for reimbursement of storm recovery costs 
($652,710). 

2. Timing of cash flows to meet all obligations as due. 
3. Bridge revaluations and additional new works added increased the balance at 30 June 

2018.  
4. Decreased payables compared with prior year, which included large and numerous 

accruals for capital works. 
 

d)    Cash reserve levels to reporting date 
 

Cash levels for the year to date in comparison to the last three financial years.   
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e) Key financial ratios 
 

Unrestricted cash ($) 
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Unrestricted cash is total cash and investments held, less trust funds owed less 
reserve balances (excluding revaluation reserves). It demonstrates the amount of 
working funds available to meet employee obligations, supplier payments, capital 
works and borrowing repayments after taking into account funds already committed. 
This ratio differs from the liquidity ratio, below, as it does not include trade receivables, 
current loans and provisions or trade payables, but is reduced by reserves. 
 

Liquidity (working capital) – current assets / current liabilities 
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The liquidity ratio measures the ability to pay existing liabilities in the next 12 months. A 
ratio higher than 100% means there is more cash and liquid assets than short term 
liabilities. VAGO accepts a ratio of greater than 100% as low risk. 
 
The ratio is expected to be high early in the financial year when the rates and charges 
are struck (which increases current assets by showing a higher debtors balance of 
amounts owing to Council) and is reduced during the year as the money is received by 
Council and then paid out to cover operational and capital expenditure. 
 
2018/2019 budgeted a liquidity ratio of 195% at 30 June 2019.  
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Indebtedness – Non-current liabilities / own source revenue 
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This ratio is a comparison of non-current liabilities (mainly comprised of borrowings) to 
own-source revenue. The higher the percentage, the less ability Council has to cover 
non-current liabilities generated from own source revenues. Own-source revenue is 
used (rather than total revenue) because it does not include capital grants, which are 
usually tied to specific projects. VAGO accepts a ratio of less than 40% as low risk. 
 
2018/2019 budgeted a ratio of 17% as at 30 June 2019 which is lower than as at 30 
June 2018 (25%), which reflects the repayments on borrowings.  

 
Adjusted underlying result – Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / adjusted 
underlying revenue 
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This ratio indicates the extent to which Council’s operations are sustainable in the 
longer-term. Ideally, this ratio will always be positive. Large and/or persistent 
underlying operating deficits indicate Council may not be retaining sufficient funds to 
maintain infrastructure. (Adjusted because it does not include capital grants, which are 
usually tied to specific capital projects).   
 

The 30 June 2019 budget for the adjusted underlying result was a deficit of 13.5%, 
compare to a budget deficit of 7% as at 30 June 2018. This negative underlying result 
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is due to the timing of budgeted government capital grants but is progressively 
expected to improve in line with the adopted long term financial plan. 

 
f) Investments and cash deposits 
 

Institution

S&P 

Rating Type

Amount 

Invested

Lodgement 

Date

Maturity 

Date

Days to 

Maturity Rate Divested

$'000 %

AMP A1-/A TD 750 24/01/2019 25/10/2019 208 2.75% No

Bank Australia A2/BBB TD 250 4/12/2018 4/06/2019 65 2.60% Yes

Bank Australia A2/BBB TD 500 28/12/2018 28/12/2019 272 2.85% Yes

Bank Australia A2/BBB TD 750 14/03/2019 14/03/2020 349 2.70% Yes

Bank Australia A2/BBB TD 750 11/12/2018 11/12/2019 255 2.85% Yes

Bank of Melbourne A1+/AA- TD 750 14/09/2018 14/09/2019 167 2.70% No

Bank of Melbourne A1+/AA- TD 750 11/12/2018 11/06/2019 72 2.50% No

Bank of Queensland A2/A- TD 500 24/01/2019 23/07/2019 114 2.77% No

Bank of Queensland A2/A- TD 750 10/12/2018 9/05/2019 39 2.67% No

Bendigo Bank A2/A- TD 750 31/10/2018 30/04/2019 30 2.50% Yes

Bendigo Bank (Maldon) Pledge 5 Yes

CBA A1+/AA- TD 500 26/09/2018 26/06/2019 87 2.70% No

IMB A2/BBB TD 500 23/11/2019 23/04/2019 23 2.60% Yes

me Bank A2/BBB TD 750 17/12/2018 17/11/2019 231 2.75% Yes

me Bank A2/BBB TD 750 13/12/2018 13/06/2019 74 2.80% Yes

me Bank A2/BBB TD 750 6/06/2019 6/09/2019 159 2.85% Yes

NAB A1+/AA- TD 750 19/11/2018 19/07/2019 110 2.60% No

NAB A1+/AA- TD 750 28/12/2018 27/12/2019 271 2.65% No

NAB A1+/AA- TD 750 11/12/2018 11/04/2019 11 2.55% No

Suncorp A1/A+ TD 500 25/03/2019 25/10/2019 208 2.65% Yes

Westpac A1+/AA- TD 1,000 28/06/2018 28/06/2019 89 2.80% No

Westpac A1+/AA- TD 750 11/10/2018 12/08/2019 134 2.60% No

Total Investments 14,255 Average rate = 2.65%

Cash Deposits - NAB at call 2,935 No

Total cash and investments 17,190

Year to 

Date 

Budget

$'000

Year to 

Date Actual

$'000

Positive/ 

(Negative) 

Variance

$'000

Investment interest income 236 351 115

 
Summary of investments according to Standard and Poor’s ratings compared to policy. 
 

s-term / l-term
short term 

rating

long term 

rating
Policy 

Thresholds

A1+ / AAA 42.1% 0.0% 100%

A1 / AA 3.5% 42.1% 100%

A2 / A or below 54.4% 57.9% 60%

100.0% 100.0%

*excluding at call

Overall portfolio  limits by category*
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As at 31 March 2019 Council had $6.26 million (36.39%) invested in financial institutions that 
support divestment from the fossil fuel industry. This data is confirmed from the Market 
Forces website: http://www.marketforces.org.au/banks/compare. 
 
Representation of investments held in institutions that do not support the fossil fuel 
industries. 
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g) Capital works to reporting date 

 
Year to date capital expenditure compared to the budget and prior year actuals.  
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h) Capital works by asset class 
 

Capital expenditure and orders by asset class against year to date budget.        
  

Asset Class

Current 

Annual 

Budget

YTD 

Budget

YTD 

Actuals

YTD 

Variance

YTD 

Variance Ref Commitments Forecast

$,000's $,000's $,000's $,000's % $,000's $,000's

Bridges 1,192 563 285 278 49% 1 28 288

Buildings 1,152 1,070 640 430 40% 2 492 1,337

Drainage 1,190 956 720 236 25% 3 180 1,030

Footpaths and cycleways 1,154 1,090 611 480 44% 4 327 1,025

Land improvements 150 106 0 106 100% 5 16 40

Other infrastructure* 1,485 1,049 512 538 51% 6 144 954

Parks, open space and streetscapes 27 27 - 27 100%  3 27

Plant and equipment 905 815 370 445 55% 7 365 905

Recreational, leisure and community 

facilities 1,791 1,353 1,882 (530) -39% 8 (24) 1,934

Roads 3,545 2,956 916 2,040 69% 9 420 3,276

Computers and technology 619 545 293 252 46% 10 62 516

Waste management 1,099 55 29 27 48%  3 448

TOTAL 14,309 10,586 6,258 4,328 41% 2,015 11,778

Mount Alexander Shire Council

Statement of capital works - Expenditure

For March 2019

*Other infrastructure includes playgrounds, streetscapes, dog park, lighting projects, solar installations, and 
standpipes. 

 
Reference notes (greater than $100,000 and 5%): 

 
Actual capital works expenditure to 31 March 2019 was $6.26 million, which is $4.33 
million (41%) less than year to date budget.  
 
The current status of projects that have significant variances between year to date 
expenditure and year to date budget are summarised below. Figures shown in brackets () 
are the year to date budget variances for the particular project: 

 
1. Bridges 

a. Delays have been encountered on the Campbells Creek Fryers Road Bridge 
project due to unforeseen complications with the bridge design. Expected to carry 
forward ($201,093) to 2019/2020. 

2. Buildings 

a. Delays were encountered in the Market Building conservation works project due to 
unforeseen complications (brick condition, multiple layers of different paint and 
subsequent paint removal). The project is now complete and awaiting final 
invoices ($142,650). 

b. Town Hall thermal comfort project has been delayed while an external project 
manager is engaged to deliver the works ($130,000). Expect to be completed by 
30 June.  
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3. Drainage 

a. Hargraves and Forest Street drainage upgrade deferred to 2019/2020 due to 
funding shortage ($66,463).  

b. Lyons Street drainage lines have been inspected and found to be full of tree roots. 
Cleaning undertaken and condition of drains are currently being assessed 
($54,132).   

c. Castlemaine Bowling Club drainage to be delivered by 30 June ($34,358).  

4. Footpath and cycleways 

a. Footpath construction between Winters Flat Primary School and Camp Reserve 
contract was recently awarded with construction due to commence in early April. 
Expected completion by mid-May ($148,799).  

b. The footpath renewal project has commenced with contract now awarded. 
Expected completion by mid-June ($114,100). 

c. Asphalt footpath construction on Mostyn Street has commenced with the contract 
awarded ($99,102). 

5. Land Improvements 

a. Norwood Hill project preliminary planning is complete. Community survey was 
postponed until 2019 with the project expected to be carried forward to 2019/2020 
($77,000). 

6. Other Infrastructure 

a. Construction of the Victory Park play space has been delayed due to the receipt of 
tender prices significantly greater than budgeted. Additional funding has now been 
secured through the Open Space Reserve and the project has been re-tendered 
with the expectation that it will be carried forward to 2019/2020 ($124,140). 

b. Councillors have adopted the Streetscape Plans and a draft works package has 
been developed for the purpose of applying for external funding. Budget is for both 
planning and construction stages with the balance expected to be carried forward 
to 2019/2020 ($101,339). 

c. Preliminary planning is now complete on the Botanical Gardens irrigation system 
stage 3 project. Construction is expected to commence during April and be 
completed by June ($95,272). 

d. Consultant has been appointed in the Maldon streetscapes project and design is 
underway. Expected completion by the end of August ($76,147). 

7. Plant and equipment 

a. A number of motor vehicle replacements will now occur in quarter 4 with the 
replacement program planned to be achieved by 30 June ($112,094). 

b. Procurement for major plant purchases is well underway with the full budget 
committed. 
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8. Recreational, leisure and community facilities 

a. Construction works on Wesley Hill Recreation Reserve stage 2 have been 
finalised ahead of schedule with practical completion achieved on 19 December 
2018, within total project budget.  

9. Roads 

a. Tenders to be awarded in April on the local roads reseal project ($868,773) with 
construction expected to commence in April. 

b. Castlemaine Primary School crossing works recently awarded and due to 
commence over the autumn school holidays to reduce disruption. Expected 
completion by early June ($548,609). 

c. Awarding of tender on the Metcalfe Redesdale Road rehabilitation project is 
anticipated during April. Expected completion mid-June ($280,718). 

10. Computers and technology 

a. Integrated corporate platform continues to be rolled out across Council ($142,014). 

b. Workstations order has been raised with deployment scheduled to begin in early 
May ($110,029). 

 Planned works ($2.012 million) on order includes: 

• Major plant replacement (wheel loader) $291,691 

• Castlemaine Primary School crossing works $261,293 

• Chewton Soldiers Memorial Park floodlights installation $225,969 

• Winters Flat Primary School footpath construction $147,232 

• Moscript Street drainage upgrades $124,662  

i) Government grants 
The organisation has an annual plan action to pursue recurrent grant funding and 
strategic capital funding aligned with Council Plan objectives. An analysis of grants 
received compared to total revenue (excluding Roads to Recovery, VGC and Aged Care) 
provides the following:  
 2016/2017 Actual  3.4% 
 2017/2018 Actual 9.9%* 
 2018/2019 Budget 3.7%  
 2018/2019 YTD Budget 2.9% 
 2018/2019 YTD Actual 3.8%**  
*(Includes $1.99 million received for Wesley Hill Recreation Reserve redevelopment. Excluding this the 
percentage decreases to 4.7%). 
**Reflects the unbudgeted grants received as outlined in sections a and b of the report. 
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1. Purpose 

The purpose of this Policy is to express Council’s commitment to compliance with 
legislative requirements including: 

• Section 186 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) (power to enter into contracts) 

• Section 186A of the Act (Procurement Policy) 

• Section 3C of the Act (objectives of Council) 

• Sections 208C of the Act (applying Best Value Principles) 

• Sections 77A, 77B, 78 to 78E, 79, 79B to D, 80, 80A to C and 95 of the Act (conflict of 
interest) 

• Section 98 of the Act (delegations) Section 140 of the Act (accounts and records) 

• The relevant provisions of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010. 
 
In addition to legislative requirements this policy: 
 

• provides a framework to guide the efficient, effective, socially and ecologically 
responsible procurement of goods, services and works for Council 

• provides guidance to the Council to allow consistency and control over procurement 
activities 

• demonstrates accountability to ratepayers 

• provides guidance to Council employees regarding ethical behavior in public sector 
purchasing and 

• aligns the Council’s procurement practices with the Guidelines.  

2. Scope 

This policy applies to Councillors and employees (including full time, part time, casual 
employees, and agency staff), contractors, consultants, volunteers and Section 86 
committees of management of the Mount Alexander Shire Council. 

This Policy and associated procedures relate to the acquisition of goods, services and works 
by Council.  It contains both mandatory and best practice requirements. 
 
This Policy is applicable through all stages of the procurement process - from when the need 
to procure goods, services or works is identified, through to the delivery of goods or 
completion of the works or services. 
 
All monetary values stated in this policy include GST, except where specifically stated 
otherwise.  
 

2.1. Exclusions to this Policy 

Areas of expenditure identified below are excluded from the requirements of clause 3.1 of 
this policy: 
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• Ministerial Approval – the requirements of Section 186 of the Act do not apply if 
a contract is entered into by Council in accordance with arrangements approved 
by the Minister 

• Emergency response, relief or recovery (section 186 (5)(a) of the Act) 

• Legal services (Local Government (General) Regulations 2004 No. 130, Part 4) 

• Loans (a quote/tender is recommended) 

• Purchase of land (the Act) 

• Electoral or valuation services 

• Payroll expenses and deductions 

• Refunds 

• Organisations that are auspiced by Council 

• Shop supplies (including artwork) purchased for the purpose of resale are 
exempt from obtaining quotes i.e. this applies to business units that operate a 
retail outlet and are required to purchase stock for resale to the public. This is 
due to the nature of the goods that are offered for resale, which may be unique  

• Performers, facilitators, presenters & artists (one off or short term engagement) 
– units that engage performers as part of their performance program are exempt 
from the conditions of this policy. Performers are engaged based on potential 
earnings that can be raised from their engagement 

• Artworks, statues and monuments – it is not practical to obtain multiple quotes 
for artworks, statues and monuments as each piece of work is unique. Items of 
artworks, statues and monuments are purchased within annual budget restraints 
but a minimum of one quote must be obtained. 

• Sole supplier (core service) – Council deals with a number of core service sole 
suppliers. There is no market to test and obtain multiple quotes. Examples of 
core service sole suppliers are: 

o Library service – North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation 
o Water – Coliban Water, North Central Catchment Authority; and Goulburn 

Murray Water 
o Professional membership payments (must relate to the position held) 
o Advertising (newspapers and magazines). 

• Plant and equipment servicing and spare parts – plant and equipment 
purchased by Council requires servicing at regular intervals. In certain 
instances, to maintain a valid warranty, works need to be carried out by 
recognised suppliers and therefore Council will utilises the services of the 
manufacturers from whom the plant or equipment was originally purchased. This 
clause also applies to specific manufacturer spare parts purchased to complete 
works on plant and equipment at the Depot 

• Employment contracts for staff employed directly by Mount Alexander Shire 
Council are specifically excluded from this policy. 
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2.2. Exemptions to this Policy 

A Director or the Chief Executive Officer may, upon receiving a written explanation from 
the relevant staff member, approve an exemption to this policy in the event of: 

 

• an unforeseen emergency 

• a strong preference for continuity of supply of goods, services or works 

• goods, services or works being of such a specialised nature that there are 
insufficient known suppliers from which to seek the required number of quotes. 

 
Requirements for the exemption of a tender are limited by section 186(1) of the Local 
Government Act and are outlined in section 3.7 Exemptions to requirement for public 
tendering in the Victorian Local Government Best Practice Procurement Guidelines 2013 
(Guidelines). 
 

3. Policy  

3.1. Procurement Thresholds 

3.1.1. Quotations 

Procurement Threshold Procurement Process 

$0 - $999 Staff member may obtain a quote 

$1,000 - $4,999 Staff member shall seek at least one (1) verbal quote 

$5,000 - $14,999 Staff member shall seek at least one (1) written quote 

$15,000 - $59,999 Procurement Unit shall seek a minimum of three (3) 
written quotes via the e-procurement portal 
 

• Public advertising not required 

• Detailed specification must be prepared that 
provides a clear description of the 
goods/services/works being purchased 

• Must include evaluation criteria relevant to the 
purchase. 

$60,000 - $149,999 
($199,999 for works) 

Procurement Unit shall seek a minimum of three (3) 
written quotes via the e-procurement portal 
 

• Public advertising not required 

• Detailed specification must be prepared that 
provides a clear description of the 
goods/services/works being purchased 

https://www.localgovernment.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0023/48452/2013-Best-Practice-Guidelines-FINAL-web.pdf
https://www.localgovernment.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0023/48452/2013-Best-Practice-Guidelines-FINAL-web.pdf
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Procurement Threshold Procurement Process 

• Must include Council’s standard evaluation criteria. 

The situation may arise where insufficient quotations are received to satisfy the 
procurement thresholds outlined in clauses 3.1.1 and 3.1.4. This may occur where 
there are few suppliers of the required goods, services or works, the work is highly 
specialised or the supplier(s) contacted declined to respond to the request for 
quotation or tender. In this case, details of the contacted suppliers must be recorded 
in Councils document management system, for transparency. There must be a 
genuine attempt to achieve value for money. 

 
3.1.2. Tendering 

A public tender must be undertaken for procurement of: 

• goods and services greater than $150,000 or 

• works with a value greater than $200,000. 

Council may undertake a public tender where the value of goods, services or works 
does not reach the public tender threshold sums. There may be situations where a 
public tender may produce a better outcome, managing risk considerations are 
paramount, or there is a desire for greater transparency of the procurement. 

The timeframe given to tenderers must be reasonable with regard to the level of 
complexity of the tender, however a minimum of 15 working days should be allowed 
between advertising of the tender until the tender closing date. Director approval must 
be obtained if it is proposed that a tender period be less than 15 working days, with 
sufficient information provided explaining why this is necessary. 

Advertising at times of major holidays such as Christmas and early January should 
be avoided if possible. If it is necessary to advertise at these times, the closing date 
should be extended to accommodate these holiday periods. 

Tenders will be advertised on Council’s e-Procurement portal. 
 
All tenders between $250,000 and $1,000,000 will be reported to Councillors in a 
monthly briefing report. Councillors will decide whether the tender will be considered 
for awarding under the Chief Executive Officer’s delegation or request that the 
recommendation for awarding of a tender be placed on the agenda of a future council 
meeting. 
 
All tenders greater than $1 million will be presented to a Council meeting for decision 
by Councillors, including details of the total project cost. 
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3.1.3. Cumulative Expenditure 

For the purposes of section 186 of the Act, a public tendering process will occur if, 
over two financial years, the cumulative expenditure with a single supplier exceeds 
or is expected to exceed –  

 

• $150,000 on the purchase of goods and services and/or 

• $200,000 on the carrying out of works. 

3.1.4. Internal Panel Contracts 

One of the valid outcomes of a public tender process is the appointment of a panel 
of contractors to promote security of supply. This is most likely to be the case where 
a council requires a range of services to be performed. The subsequent use of quotes 
on a job-by-job basis further promotes competition and value for money. 

Panel contractors are usually appointed for an initial two year term with options to 
extend contracts. Standard contract documentation specifies that contractors will not 
be guaranteed any work but they may be called on at any time to supply goods, 
services or works. 

In these cases, the contractors may be engaged by: 

• using the schedule of rates submitted in their tender or 

• requesting quotes. 
 
Once a panel is established, care should be taken in relation to the engagement of 
one or more of the contractors on the panel.  Some aspects to consider are: 

• which panel member can best provide the required good/service 

• if all members of the panel are offering a similar service, the contractor offering 
the lowest price may be the best option 

• avoiding situations where, over the contract term, one or two members of the 
panel are allocated the majority of the work. 

 

Procurement Threshold 
(Panel Contracts) 

Procurement Process 

$0 - $14,999 Staff member may obtain a quote from panel 
contractors 

$15,000 - $59,999 Staff member shall seek at least two (2) written quotes 
from panel contractors  

Above $60,000 Procurement Unit shall seek at least three (3) written 
quotes from panel contractors using the e-procurement 
portal 
 

• Public advertising not required. 



 

Procurement Policy  Page 8 of 14  

Procurement Policy 

Procurement Threshold 
(Panel Contracts) 

Procurement Process 

• Detailed specification must be prepared that 
provides a clear description of the 
goods/services/works being purchased. 

• Must include evaluation criteria relevant to the 
purchase. 

Above $150,000 
($200,000 works) 

Public tender recommended 

 

3.2. External Panel Contracts 

The following principles will be applied when utilising procurement agents (e.g. MAV 
Procurement and Procurement Australia) and whole of government contracts: 

• Council will use an agent where potential cost savings exist and 

• The use of procurement agents must not eliminate the ability of suppliers locally 
and within our region to submit a quotation or tender. 

 
Where there are suppliers locally and within our region and Council participate in a 
procurement process with an agent, Council will take every reasonable effort to notify 
relevant suppliers of the procurement opportunity. 
 
Council may participate in joint tenders with other Councils and also act as the lead agent 
on behalf of other Councils. The aggregated spend of all joint tender participants may 
increase the level of responses received and provide better value to Council. 

 
3.3. Evaluation Criteria 

The following mandatory evaluation criteria must be applied to all purchases above $60,000.  
Weightings may be adjusted depending on the size and complexity of the contract. 

 

• Risk management – pass/fail evaluation       

• Local content / economic benefit (minimum 5% weighting)   

• Cost to Council, both direct and indirect 

• Response to specification 

• Experience and qualifications 

• Business and financial capacity, including quality management 

• Environmental sustainability 
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3.4. Support of the Local and Regional Economy 

Council is committed to buying from businesses locally (within the Shire) and within our 
region (neighbouring municipalities), where such purchases may be justified on value for 
money grounds. Of primary importance is the need to encourage open and effective 
competition to ensure the best possible outcomes for Council. 

To support this commitment and to encourage a focus on local industry, including creating 
local employment and improving local businesses, Council will: 
 

• seek at least one quotation from a supplier from within our region, if available 

• include a ‘Local Content/Economic Benefit’ schedule in all quotations and public 
tenders above $60,000 which will detail the level of local content including 
labour, materials, plant and supervision 

• include a ‘Local Content/Economic Benefit’ evaluation criteria with a minimum 
weighting of 5% for all quotations and public tenders above $60,000 

• encourage suppliers to register their business with the TenderSearch e-
Procurement and Mount Alexander Business Connect systems to receive 
notifications of procurement opportunities with Council and 

• provide regular communication through the Council Column and local business 
groups. 

 
3.5. Delegations 

Delegations and authorisations define the limitations within which Council employees are 
permitted to operate. Delegation or authorisation of procurement activity allows specified 
employees to approve certain purchases, quotations, tenders and contractual processes 
without prior referral to Council. This enables procurement activities to be conducted in an 
efficient and timely manner while maintaining transparency and integrity. 
 
Procurement delegations and authorisations ensure accountability and provide confidence 
to the Council and the public that procurement activities are dealt with at the appropriate 
level (Refer to Appendix 1). 

3.6. Contract Variations 

Throughout the life of a contract changes may arise to the original specification or scope of 
the service or project.  In order to accept these variations approval must be obtained from 
the relevant delegated officer.   

The total of the original contract and all variations must be taken into account when 
determining if the change is within financial delegation limits. 
 
Unless otherwise approved, contract variations must be assessed against the value of the 
original contract, and all subsequent variations, when determining if the change is within 
financial delegation limits. 
 

https://centralvic.localised.com.au/mountalexander/
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The cumulative value of variations must not exceed the levels and approvals outlined in 
Appendix 1 – Contract Variation Delegation Thresholds. 
 
Council may resolve to include nominated levels of approval for variations on specific 
contracts, depending on the nature of goods, services and/or works being delivered under 
the contract and the contract value.  
 
Where contracts allow provision for a Superintendent and/or Superintendents 
representatives, contract variations must be approved by the appropriate delegate. 
 
A purchase order is not considered sufficient proof of a contract variation. Variations must 
be documented and approved using Council’s procurement and contract management 
system (above $15,000).  

3.7. Internal Controls 

Council will maintain a framework of internal controls over procurement processes that will 
ensure transparency in the procurement process by:  

• having more than one person involved in, and responsible for, a transaction end 
to end 

• documenting procurement activities using relevant Council systems including 
Council’s document management and procurement systems to provide a clear 
audit trail 

• ensuring appropriate authorisations are obtained and documented 

• ensuring purchase orders are raised and approved in accordance with 
procurement procedures and 

• ensuring systems are in place for appropriate monitoring and performance 
measurement. 

 
3.8. Contract Management, Performance Measures and Continuous Improvement 

Wherever possible, contracts must contain measurable performance criteria and reporting 
systems relevant to the goods, services or works being purchased to accommodate the 
following requirements: 

• highlight performance trends and exceptions where necessary to enhance 
performance 

• provide high level capabilities in auditing and monitoring service delivery and 

• highlight the internal efficiency of the procurement process and, where relevant, 
the performance of suppliers. 

 
Contracts are to be proactively managed by the Council staff member responsible for the 
delivery of the contracted goods, services or works. Staff will utilise Council’s procurement 
and contract management system to assist with the management of their contracts. 
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3.9. Council’s Risk Management Policy must be applied at all stages of 
procurement activities 

All procurement activities must be properly planned and carried out in a manner to protect 
and enhance Council’s capability to prevent, withstand and recover from interruption to the 
supply of goods, services and works. 
 
Council will minimise its potential exposure to risks concerning the provision of goods, 
services and works by:  

• using standardised contracts that include current and relevant risk clauses 

• conduct and document a risk assessment 

• identify other health and safety/risk requirements relevant to the scope of works 
for the particular project 

• requiring security deposits where appropriate 

• referring specifications to relevant experts 

• requiring contractual agreements to be executed before allowing the 
commencement of work 

• use of or reference to relevant Australian Standards (or equivalent)  

• effectively managing the contract, including monitoring and enforcing 
performance and 

• complying with the Contractor Health and Safety Guidelines. 

3.10. Environmental Sustainability 

Council recognises that procurement decisions have an impact on the environment and that 
through considered purchasing decisions Council has the opportunity to contribute to 
positive environmental outcomes, maximising long-term benefits for the community. 

Council is committed to achieving long term environmental sustainability through the 
procurement process and is committed to reducing resources, consumption and minimising 
waste during the procurement life cycle. 
 

4. Key Principles of the Policy 

Council’s procurement activities must be performed with integrity and in a manner able to 
withstand close scrutiny. The following fundamental best practice principles must be 
applied to all procurement, irrespective of the value and complexity of the procurement: 

• Value for money 

• Open and fair competition 

• Accountability 

• Risk management 

• Probity and transparency. 
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5. Definitions of Abbreviations Used 

A table of terms and their definitions as they relate to the policy   

Term Definition 

Act the Local Government Act 1989 (Vic). 

Best Value Council’s procurement activities will be carried out on the basis of 
obtaining best value.   
 
This means minimising the total cost of ownership over the lifetime of 
the requirement consistent with acceptable quality, reliability and 
delivery considerations. Lowest price is not the sole determinate of 
best value. 

GST GST within the meaning of A New Tax System (Goods and Services 
Tax) Act 1999 (Commonwealth). 

Guidelines the Victorian Local Government Best Practice Procurement Guidelines 
2013 which provide a set of principles and practices that represent the 
most efficient and prudent course of action for developing and 
maintaining best practice local government procurement processes. 
 
If this policy is inconsistent with the guidelines, this policy supersedes 
the guidelines. 

Local suppliers located within the municipality of Mount Alexander Shire 

Our Region suppliers located in municipalities immediately adjoining the 
municipality of Mount Alexander Shire 

Procurement the process of acquiring external goods, services or works from initial 
concept through to disposal of an asset, either at the end of its useful 
life or on completion of the contract. 

Thresholds The value above which procurement, unless exempt, is subject to the 
mandatory procurement procedures. 

Value for 
money 

selecting the supply of goods, services and works taking into account 
both cost and non-cost factors including: 
a) contribution to the advancement of the Council’s priorities 
b) local content 
c) non-cost factors such as fitness for purpose, quality, service and 

support 
d) cost related factors including whole of life costs and transaction 

costs associated with acquiring, using, holding, maintaining and 
disposing of the goods, services or works 

https://www.localgovernment.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0023/48452/2013-Best-Practice-Guidelines-FINAL-web.pdf
https://www.localgovernment.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0023/48452/2013-Best-Practice-Guidelines-FINAL-web.pdf
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Term Definition 

in conjunction with the best value principles contained in Section 208B 
of the Act and the Guidelines. 

 

6. Human Rights Statement 

Human Rights Statement 

It is considered that this policy does not impact negatively on any rights identified in the 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act (2006).  Mount Alexander Shire Council 
is committed to consultation and cooperation between management and employees.  
Mount Alexander Shire Council will formally involve the Workplace Consultative 
Committee in any workplace change that may affect employees.  

http://www.legislation.vic.gov.au/Domino/Web_Notes/LDMS/PubStatbook.nsf/f932b66241ecf1b7ca256e92000e23be/63613d8633a76f3cca256e5b00213df1/$FILE/99-059a.pdf
http://www.legislation.vic.gov.au/Domino/Web_Notes/LDMS/PubStatbook.nsf/f932b66241ecf1b7ca256e92000e23be/63613d8633a76f3cca256e5b00213df1/$FILE/99-059a.pdf
https://www.localgovernment.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0023/48452/2013-Best-Practice-Guidelines-FINAL-web.pdf
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7. Appendix 1 – Contract Variation Delegation Thresholds 

Position  

Financial 
Delegation 

Limit 
Maximum total value 
of original contract 
plus any cumulative 

variations 

Variations 

 
Council  

 
Above $1M* 

 
Cumulative contract variations exceeding 30% 
of the original contract sum, or over $150,000 
individually 
 

 
CEO  

 
Up to $1M 

 
Can approve cumulative variations up to 30% of 
the original contract, or $150,000 individually, 
whichever is the lesser, and within financial 
delegation limit 
 

 
Director  

 
Up to $150,000  

 
Can approve cumulative variations up to 25% of 
the original contract and within financial 
delegation limit 
 

 
Managers 

 
Up to $50,000 

 
Can approve cumulative variations up to 20% of 
the original contract and within financial 
delegation limits* 
 

 
Coordinators  

 
Up to $15,000  
 

  

 

* or any contract below $1,000,000 that Council considers requires a resolution for 
approval. 
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